


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Kwong Man
Kee Group Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page
of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least 7 days from the date
of its posting and the Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2021.

Review

As an established and renowned contractor in the car park flooring
industry in Hong Kong and Macau, we provide (i) flooring services,
which involve the application of proprietary floor coating products
for the purpose of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing
surface that is resistant against water and petrochemicals; (i) ancillary
services, which include specialised texture painting and waterproofing
works; and (iii) sales of car park flooring materials. Our target segment
ranges from mid to high end projects in the car park flooring market.

While various businesses in Hong Kong and Macau have been
severely impacted by COVID-19 since early 2020, the adverse impact
on our industry and business has been less significant. Thanks to
the continuous support of our customers and employees, the Group
recorded a strong growth of revenue of 25.1% to HK$118.9 million
as compared with the last financial year. The Group’s net profit also
doubled to approximately HK$15.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Looking Forward

Looking forward, despite the challenges posed by economic
uncertainty as well as increasing labour and material costs, the Group
strives to achieve continuous growth through broadening sources of
income, increasing market share in specialised texture painting and
waterproofing sectors and enhancing operational efficiency.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude and sincere
appreciation to all customers, suppliers, subcontractors, business
partners and professional parties for their support during these
challenging times. | also take this opportunity to thank our management
and employees for their contribution and commitment throughout the
year.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Chi Man (B#&X), aged 66, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. Kwong is mainly responsible for the leadership and management
of the Board and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Kwong was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2016. He is a director of
all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the
construction industry. Mr. Kwong entered into the construction industry
as a sole proprietor with the business registration of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering in 1982. Mr. Kwong started the car park flooring
business in 2003 and in 2005 undertook projects from major property
developers, architects, main contractors and government bodies. In
2008, Mr. Kwong became a shareholder and director of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering Limited (“KMK”) and subsequently became the sole
shareholder of KMK in 2013. Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 15 years
of experience in the car park flooring industry. Mr. Kwong is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Director.

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (¥784), aged 45, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Group and is principally responsible for the
business development, overall management and business operations
of the Group. Mr. Yip first joined the Group in November 2003 on a part
time basis to promote the Group’s business. In August 2015, Mr. Yip
took up the position of manager of KMK on a full time basis. Mr. Yip
has accumulated over 15 years of experience in the car park flooring
industry. Mr. Yip was appointed as an executive Director on 3 August
2018. He is a director of all subsidiaries of the Group except Victor Ease
Limited.

Mr. Yip graduated from The University of British Columbia in May
1997 with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering with distinction
and subsequently obtained a master’s degree in engineering from the
same university in May 1998. Mr. Yip is an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Director.

Mr. Yip Wai Man (${2X), aged 47, is an executive Director principally
responsible for supervision and management of site works, quality
control and work safety. Mr. Yip WM worked in his family business in
trading before joining the Group in November 2005 as a technician. He
left the Group in January 2006 to rejoin his family business but returned
as the technician in June 2006. In 2010, Mr. Yip WM became a site
foreman of the Group and has accumulated 15 years of experience
working in the Group. Mr. Yip WM was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 June 2016.
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E E R 5 &K E

In October 2012, Mr. Yip WM completed and passed the Technically
Competent Person T1 Training Course at the Hong Kong Institute
of Vocational Education. Mr. Yip WM has also completed the Safety
Supervisor Training Course at Hong Kong Human Resources Limited in
March 2013. Mr. Yip WM is an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of
Director.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (R#%), aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Ms. Yu has
accumulated experience in the civil and geotechnical engineering field
when she was employed from 1998 to 2005 by Greg Wong & Associates
Limited, a civil and structural engineering company in Hong Kong. In
2012, Ms. Yu commenced her legal career and she was admitted as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in April 2014.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the
University of British Columbia in May 1997 and a master’s degree
in engineering (civil) from Cornell University (USA) in May 1998.
In November 2007, Ms. Yu further completed a master’'s degree in
engineering (industrial engineering and logistics management) from the
University of Hong Kong. In December 2010, Ms. Yu obtained her Juris
Doctor degree and subsequently the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
(PCLL) in July 2011, both from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Pui Cheung (&M &), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Law
has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the accountancy
profession. Mr. Law began his career with Ernst and Whinney, the
predecessor firm of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm in
Hong Kong. Mr. Law joined Li, Tang, Chen & Co., a practising certified
public accountant firm in Hong Kong in 1989 and retired as a partner
in June 2016. Mr. Law had been a practising director of Yong Zheng
CPA Limited and is now the founder and chief executive officer of
Marvin Law & Co., a certified public accountant firm. He is also a senior
advisor of ShineWing Business Advisory Services Limited. He is also a
member of the Disciplinary Panel of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Market Misconduct Tribunal of
Securities and Futures Commission.
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Mr. Law is a fellow or member of the following professional organisations:

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BAERTIEXHRBNERSENER -

Organisation Capacity Since (Year)
Hig B 7 Fi A (1)
The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants Fellow 1990
HALREAMAE Bre8 —ANEF
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Fellow 1985
BRGNS BAgR —AN\ERF
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants Member 1995

R VN g8 —NARF
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute Fellow 2015
ERBFNRERS BAgR —T-RF
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors Fellow 2011
BEREXEES BAgR —E——fF
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Fellow 2015
HRERZRANSHASAMAE BAgR —T-IF
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (J£EHT), aged 45, was appointed as an [EBILE 455 R-ZE— A "FNLA-THNH

independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Wat
has accumulated more than 10 years of experience in the civil and
geotechnical engineering field when he was employed from August
1998 to November 2009 by Mott MacDonald Hong Kong Limited, a
global management, engineering and development consultancy firm.
In November 2009, Mr. Wat became a director of Kin Wah Hong Paper
Limited, a company with the principal business of paper agency and
distributorship in Hong Kong, where he is responsible for the overall
administration, procurement, financial control and sales and marketing.

Mr. Wat has been a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(Civil Discipline) since March 2003.

Mr. Wat graduated from the University of British Columbia in May 1997
with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and subsequently obtained
a master’s degree of Engineering (Civil) from Cornell University (USA) in
May 1998.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (£4/&1#), aged 57, joined the Group as the financial
controller and company secretary in December 2017. He is responsible
for overall financial management and company secretarial matters of
the Group. He also supports the management on strategic and financial
planning and funding matters in relation to the business development of
the Group.

During the course of his professional career, he had the opportunity to
hold various senior accounting and finance positions in company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, international corporation
and other well-established companies in various industries. He had
extensive experience in the areas of financial management, financial
control, auditing, treasury and taxation as well as projects regarding
M&A and IPO.

Mr. Choi graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College with a
Diploma in Accounting in 1990 and obtained a master’s degree in
management majored in accounting in 2010 from Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics in the People’s Republic of China. He has
been a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 1999 and fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
T E E & W R 2

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
sales of car park flooring materials. Our target segment range from mid
to high end projects in the car park flooring market.

Since the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in early
2020, the pandemic has adversely affected on the overall business
environment in Hong Kong, various industries have suffered from
temporary suspension or cessation of their business operations. Despite
that, the business operations of infrastructure and construction sectors
in Hong Kong have been relatively less impacted compared with other
industries. The Group’s operating performance for the year was also
not significantly affected by the epidemic, and in fact, the Group has
recorded an increase in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 as
compared to the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the revenues from Hong Kong
and Macau markets were approximately HK$108.4 million (2020:
approximately HK$85.0 million) and approximately HK$10.5 million
(2020: approximately HK$10.0 million), respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded total revenue of
approximately HK$118.9 million, or the increase of 25.1% as compared
with approximately HK$95.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2020. As a result of the increase of revenue, the Group’s net profit
substantially increased from approximately HK$6.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$15.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021,

Revenue

The revenue, which is principally generated from the provision of
car park flooring services for construction projects, increased to
approximately HK$118.9 million or by 25.1%, for year ended 31 March
2021 from approximately HK$95.0 million for year ended 31 March
2020. The increase of revenue was mainly driven by the increase in the
number of projects undertaken by the Group during the year ended 31

March 2021.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &£

EB RSB EEE

AEETERERBLAMEESMITFHRT
X o WAIRME - ()P RRY - S REREF
WHRRZEERARREVER  TBEARA
kR NS ZAMCTERBRFEOMNER
H: (NEERY BRIFMEZRRHAKT
12 R(i)HEFESMITHRVE - ZANBR
EBDHRFEEEMFHRTS T RRAR

BE-Z_ZEPBEHATMRE (20198 R RE
%F&évrﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%“ﬁ%%ﬁ&Kﬂ%
% TEEHGBEEEENE o BEM
7T AR - E%mﬁ@&@ ETEH

z%gmgr1 c REBRAEEM

XEBEMBEEYE BRL -
Ef FZA=Z+-HLEED
S F =A==+ —HLEFEAF

‘%

s

unwﬁﬁﬂ

/

%u¢%¢w

%

&1
L
%
5
IeEE
5

BE-_Z-—F=-A=T—HLFE KAEE
RBPI T 5 R Uz 2 B4 £108,400,000% 7T (=
T — T4 : 485,000,000 7T) K £10,500,000
B (ZFEZZF 1 410,000,000 70) °

BEZZ-—HF=-A=+—HILFE  ££EH
54U 2549118,900,0008 L kBHE_T =
TEHE= A =+—HIEFEZ#95,000,0007% 7T il
25.1% ° BRWEE N - AEENENBHEC
T F=-A=+—HIEFE#6,100,000% T
AEENEEE S -_—F=ZA=1+—HIFE
#715,400,00078 TT °

&=
WaFTZRRAEEEAREEESEHITHZ
R ABEE-T_TF-A=-+—HLFE
#)95,000,000/8 TLIEMN25. 1% EHE T - —F
—A=1+—HB1EFE#118,900,000% T * Wz
ENEERARAREARBE_T-_—4%=H
=t+—BLEFEARENBEAHSEMATR -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by 42.2% from approximately
HK$29.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$41.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The gross profit
margin of the Group increased from 30.9% for the year ended 31
March 2020 to 35.1% for the same period ended 31 March 2021.
The substantial increase in gross profit was mainly caused by (i) the
increase in revenue for year ended 31 March 2021; (ii) higher profit
margin in certain projects as compared with the year ended 31 March
2020; (iii) fewer unexpected increase in project costs for variation
orders; and (iv) decrease in material consumption and subcontractor
costs as a result of implementation of control measures by the Group.

Other income/(losses)

The other income was approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 as compared with the other losses approximately
HK$10,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020. The turnaround from
losses to gains was primarily due to the recognition of government
subsidies of approximately HK$1.5 million from the Employment Support
Scheme under the COVID-19 Anti-epidemic Fund and other subsidy
schemes as announced by the Governments in Hong Kong and Macau
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and contract
assets

The Group recorded impairment loss on trade and retention receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$2.1 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 as compared with approximately HK$1.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020. Impairment loss is calculated under
expected credit loss model with reference to the expected credit
loss rates, which were determined based on the cash collection
performance, the probability of default of customers and also taking into
account the forward-looking information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
T E E & W R 2

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$2.3 million from approximately HK$20.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$22.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in staff cost by approximately HK$2.2 million due to
the increases in number of staff and discretionary performance-related
bonuses paid to employees and Directors. General and administrative
expenses consist primarily of staff cost, depreciation, professional fee
and other general administrative expenses.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group was approximately HK$2.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021 as compared with income tax expense
of approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The substantial increase of income tax expense was mainly attributable
to the increase in profit before income tax from approximately HK$7.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$18.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the profit of the Group increased from
approximately HK$6.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$15.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

OUTLOOK

The Directors consider that there is no assurance for the high gross
profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2021 to be maintained or
estimated at any level in the following periods or years. The profit
margin of each project depends on, among others, the terms of the
contract, the length of the contractual period, the size and contract sum
of the project, the efficiency in implementing the contractual work and
the prevailing market conditions which all are beyond the control of the
Group.

Looking forward, in light of the uncertainty of the duration and impact
of COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors believe the challenges faced by
the Group will be (i) the market and economic uncertainty which will
affect the development of local property market, which in turn, may have
an adverse impact on our business; and (ii) the threat of increasing
labour and material costs, which all may weaken the Group’s financial
performance for coming years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to cope with the challenges and achieve continuous growth
for the Group and the shareholders’ value as a whole, the Group will
continue to pursue the following key strategies: (i) seeking for potential
business opportunities to broaden the sources of income; (i) expanding
the market share in specialised texture painting and waterproofing
sectors to strengthen its income stream; and (iii) enhancing our
operational efficiency and further strengthening our cost control
measures.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintained a healthy financial position during the year ended
31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$34.6 million (2020: approximately
HK$19.6 million). The Group’s current ratio was approximately 3.2 times
as at 31 March 2021 compared to approximately 2.4 times at 31 March
2020.

The total interest-bearing borrowings (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2021 were approximately
HK$10.0 million (2020: approximately HK$10.8 million). The borrowings
were secured by the Group’s certain assets with carrying amount
of approximately HK$32.9 million as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
approximately HK$34.6 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$129.9 million (2020: approximately HK$119.2 million) which were
financed by total liabilities and total equity of approximately HK$29.5
million (2020: approximately HK$34.2 million) and approximately
HK$100.4 million (2020: approximately HK$85.0 million).

GEARING RATIO
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
9.0% (2020: approximately 11.3%).

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by the total capital of approximately HK$110.4
million as at 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately HK$95.8 million).
The total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus total
borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since
its shares listed on GEM on 13 October 2016. The share capital of the
Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$6,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
600,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

There was no significant investment held by the Group nor any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiary, associate and joint venture for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Board does not have any plan for
material investments or additions of capital assets.

RISK OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Macau and majority of its
business transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Macau Pataca, and hence, the Group does not have any material
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the year ended 31
March 2021. The Group has not entered any financial instrument for
hedging purpose.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the reporting year. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &£#&

RZE-_—F=ZA=+—H ARANEETK
A 56,000,000 MEBBITLEEREE A
600,000,000/% * &% EEO0.01/E T °

EXRE EAUBREENBLF  BEQ

AMAERE

RBE-_E_—5=A=+—-RUI¥E £5H
YEBEEAREXABMBEAR  BERAM
AELEZEMERKBRLE -

BERREFEREE ZRRETE

RAHZERH EFQYBEARELREER
BEZEMGTE -

IMNE K B L B

AEBEBFBRRPILERY  MAHIEBR
HUBTRRFTAE  AEAKREREE-F
—HZAZT-RAUFEYERSENERE
LR o NEEY ERE T LER SR T
Ao

JEE 75 B R
ASECHEABBBRRRNEENM B EER
B RBEFENA-BEERRRORBDESM
N REERDETRER  EFEBRNERAS
EHRBESRRN  NERAKENEE A
FARNRBECHEBAINAETENESRR
sk o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 37 employees in total (2020:
31 employees). The staff costs of the Group (including directors’
emoluments and management, administrative and operational staff
costs) for the year ended 31 March 2021 were approximately HK$16.0
million (2020: approximately HK$13.7 million).

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of basic remuneration, discretionary bonus may
be granted to senior management and staff members by reference to
the Group's performance as well as individual’'s performance. Other
staff benefits include medical benefits, mandatory provident fund and
sponsorship of training courses.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities. As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s committed
lease payments were recognised as lease liabilities of approximately
HK$570,000 (2020: approximately HK$673,000).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance in its management structures
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, the principles
of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure
that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and

regulations.

The Board believes that good and effective corporate governance
practices are keys to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other
stakeholders, and essential for encouraging accountability and
transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to create
long-term value for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of
the GEM Listing Rules, which includes developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training
and continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and
disclosures in this report.

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in
respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has
fully complied with the required standard of dealings set out in the Code
of Conduct during the year ended 31 March 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board meets regularly for considering, reviewing and/or approving
matters relating to, among others, the financial and operating
performance, as well as, the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. Additional meetings are held when significant events or
important issues are required to be discussed and resolved.

The Directors’ responsibilities include, inter alia:

o To attend regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance;

o To review annual budgets for the Group;

o To monitor the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

o To consider and approve the consolidated financial statements
in quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements and
press releases of quarterly, interim and annual results;

o To focus on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic
policies, finances and interest of the Shareholders;

o To consider dividend policy and dividend amount; and
o To review and monitor the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and

regulatory requirements.

The Company has taken out director and officer liability insurance to
cover liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Composition
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman) (re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 27 August 2020)
Mr. Yip Wai Man (re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 30 August 2019)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The profiles of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 6 to 9
of this report.

With the various experience of the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and the nature of
the Group’s business, the Company recognises the benefits of having
a Board with well-balanced experience and qualification to maintain
a sustainable business development of the Group in long run. In
recognition of the Company’s commitment to a well-balanced Board,
the nomination committee of the Company is entrusted to review the
Company’s human resources policy and recruitment process to ensure
the effectiveness of the policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rule 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three INEDs representing at least one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
As such, there is a strong element in the Board to provide independent
judgment.

In accordance with code provision A.4.1 of the Code, the Company has
entered into a letter of appointment with each of the INEDs for a term of
three years and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of three years and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice to the other party.

The service agreements and/or letters of appointment of the Directors
are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
They can be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”) and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

As required under the Articles, all Directors are subject to election by
the Shareholders at the Company at the first general meeting after their
appointment. At every annual general meeting of the Company at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election
thereat.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
An annual general meeting was held on 27 August 2020 during the year
ended 31 March 2021 with all Directors present throughout the meeting.
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

Five Board meetings were respectively held on 19 June 2020, 7 August
2020, 27 August 2020, 9 November 2020 and 5 February 2021 during
the year ended 31 March 2021. The individual attendance record of the
Board meetings is set out as follows:

EXEERRANRESHERR

EEeNBZE_S-_—F-A=ZT—HLLEFE
NEDRIRZZZZTF~ATNIB - ZZTZTF
NAtH ZEZZFN\A=Z++tR - ZZT=%
F+—AhNBR-_ZE-—F_BAHETAXE
FOEELQENSEFHRCHIINNT

Number of Board Meetings
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/EERLRE
Name of Directors BEpA EEEgENEE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEXEE 5/5
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgt s 5/5
Mr. Yip Wai Man EEXEE 5/5
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FEBELL 5/5
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BmELE 5/5
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JERERT S 5/5

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company and ensures that it is managed in the best interests of
the Shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interest of
other stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for formulating
the business strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business
performance of the Group, approving the financial statements as
well as directing and supervising the management of the Company.
Execution of operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated
to the management by the Board with clear directions. The Board is
regularly provided with management report to give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the performance, position, recent
development and prospect of the Group in sufficient details.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTOR TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate
in continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars and forums organised by qualified professionals, to develop
and refresh their knowledge as to the industry and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has maintained the training record in respect of each
Director. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors by the Company
whenever necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the legal compliance committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with
their respective written terms of reference. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions and works. The practices,
procedures and arrangements of conduct of committee meetings follow
in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings and their
respective terms of reference.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 24 September 2016 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial
reporting process and internal control system, nominate and monitor
external auditors and to provide advice and comments to the Board on
matters related to corporate governance.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Law Pui
Cheung, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan. Mr. Law
Pui Cheung currently serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Four Audit Committee meetings were respectively held on 19 June
2020, 7 August 2020, 9 November 2020 and 5 February 2021 during
the year ended 31 March 2021. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:

:%:—E:ﬂ:+—5¢¢
TERATNA  ZETZTF
T-EF+—-ANARZE=—F
—ARAEAN K@% BREEEERNENK
B ERSEm

Number of meetings
of the Audit Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/RERLRE
Name of Directors BEpA EREESSENEE
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EMERE 4/4
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REELT 4/4
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [EBERT L & 4/4

The Audit Committee has reviewed (i) the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021; and (ii) the
Group’s financing, internal control and risk management system.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure
of the Directors and senior management of the Group, and determine,
with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management of the

Company.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, being
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan, Mr. Kwong Chi Man and Ms. Yu Wan Wah
Amparo. Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan currently serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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One Remuneration Committee meeting was held on 5 February 2021 for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The individual attendance record of the
meeting of the Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:
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Number of meetings of the
Remuneration Committee
attended/eligible to attend

B/ AERLE
Name of Directors BEMA FHEEESENEE
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEEERT L4 1/1
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEX LS 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REELT 1/1

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of director fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/
or discretionary bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and the performance of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee will review and determine, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration and compensation
packages of individual Directors and senior management of the
Company with reference to their responsibilities, workload, and the time
devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee’) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on
the Board and/or in senior management of the Company.

The Nomination Committee should consider a number of factors in
assessing, evaluating and selecting candidates for the directorships
based on the Group’s nomination policy. These factors include (i)
character and integrity; (i) qualifications and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and strategy; (i) commitment to
devote sufficient time to discharge the duties as a member of the Board
and other directorship; (iv) diversity in all aspects in order to achieve
the diversity of the Board; (v) independence requirement with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules when evaluating the suitability of the candidates to be INEDs; and
(vi) such other factors which are appropriate to the Company’s business
and strategy.
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The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Kwong
Chi Man, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan.
Mr. Kwong Chi Man currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held on 19 June 2020 during
the year ended 31 March 2021. The individual attendance record of the
meeting of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

Tﬁ%ééﬁm:%ﬁiéﬁﬂﬁi*“)”zlﬁ%f;%ﬁﬁﬁﬁlf‘i
CRBERXTINEBRTEL  BEXEERR
k%iaﬁif"

%§ Elé.‘%é%ﬁ’]%ﬁkﬁifaﬂﬁ%(ﬂ@? :

Number of meetings of the Nomination
Committee attended/eligible to attend

BHESERLE
Name of Directors EEHNE REZEEEEMNEAE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEEE 1/1
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REERT 1/1
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JREET 4 1/1

Legal Compliance Committee

The legal compliance committee of the Company (the “Legal
Compliance Committee”’) was established on 24 September 2016 with
its written terms of reference by reference to the code provisions of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
are to assist the Board in overseeing the Group’s compliance with laws
and regulations relevant to its business operations and to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and

system.

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members, being
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo, Mr. Law Pui Cheung and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu
Yan. Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo currently serves as the chairlady of the
Legal Compliance Committee.
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One Legal Compliance Committee meeting was held on 5 February
2021 during the year ended 31 March 2021. The individual attendance
record of the meeting of the Legal Compliance Committee is set out as
follows:
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T

Number of meetings of the
Legal Compliance Committee
attended/eligible to attend
BHE/RERLRE

Name of Directors EEpg FEERZEEERNEE
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REELT 1/1
Mr. Law Pui Cheung ‘HMERAE 1/1
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEBERT LA 1/1

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

In order to ensure the balanced composition and effectiveness of the
Board, the Company has accordingly adopted a Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of service. The
Board appointments will be based on the performance and competence
of the candidates, and the merit and contribution to be brought to the
Board by the selected candidates.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The existing Board members are coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives in the Corporate
Governance Report, and monitor the implementation of the diversity
policy to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee will consider any revisions that may be
required and propose recommendation to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control of
the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. No material inadequacy of internal
controls has been revealed in terms of risk management in the Group’s
decision-making process.

A staff in the finance department was assigned to perform the internal
audit functions as part of her job and she reports the audit’s findings
to the Audit Committee. She mainly reviews and tests the control of the
Group’s major operational, financial, compliance and risk management
based on the Group’s policies. She communicates the findings, control
deficiencies and remedial actions with the management and Audit
Committee for improvement of the Group’s internal control system.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has reviewed (i)
procedures of financial reporting and disclosure; (ii) procurement
and account payable cycle by selecting samples from suppliers and
subcontractors; (iii) management on human resource and payroll
processes; (iv) implementation of information technology measures; and
(v) cash and treasury management. The internal audit staff reported that
the Group consistently complied with relevant policies and procedures.
Suggestions were made to the Audit Committee and the management
has implemented certain follow-up measures based on the internal audit
findings.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that year. The Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors about their financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report attached to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 in this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid or payable
to PricewaterhouseCoopers (as the auditors of the Company) and its
affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services were
HK$970,000 and HK$47,000 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (“Mr. Choi”), an employee of the Company, was
appointed by the Board as the secretary of the Company on 15
December 2017. The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out under
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report. Mr. Choi is principally responsible for supervision of the Group's
financial reporting, financial planning, treasury, financial control and
company secretarial matters.

Mr. Choi had confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”). EGMs
shall also be convened on the requisition of two or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within a
further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves may convene a meeting
in accordance with the Articles and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.
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Right to put enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings of the Company under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has established its dividend policy which aims to provide
a transparency of the mechanism used for determination of the
dividend amount and payment as well as to notify Shareholders
and other persons concerned of the dividend policy of the Group. It
broadly specifies the external and internal factors, including financial
parameters, that shall be considered while declaring dividend and the
circumstances under which the Shareholders of the Group may or may
not expect dividend and how the retained earnings shall be utilized.

The Board will review and monitor the implementation of the Group'’s
dividend policy from time to time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities.

The Company’s annual, interim and quarterly reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders.

Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications and press
releases of the Company are published on the Company’s website at
www.kmk.com.hk. The Company’s website disseminates corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information

electronically on a timely basis.
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The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and the Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board is
committed to ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company so as to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively
with the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 March 2021, there has been no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Board hereby present the Directors’ report and the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is the investment holding company of the Group. The
Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
sales of car park flooring materials.

For further particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group, details of which
are set out in Note 28(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the development, performance or position of the Group’s business,
details are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
page 5 and the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 10 to 15 of this report.

For the principal financial risks and uncertainties facing the Company,
details are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

(A) Environmental policies and performance
The Board is aware that addressing environmental concerns is an
important issue for contributing to the continuous development of
society (along with the business activities of the Company).

The Group’s operation is not subject to any environmental
requirements in Hong Kong, except the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance (Chapter 295 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
‘Dangerous Goods Ordinance”), and that some of the works
conducted by the Group are subject to environmental compliance
examination under The Hong Kong Green Building Council’s
“BEAM Plus” scheme. The Group has established effective
environmental management system in conformity with the
international standard requirements, for the provision of design,
construction, installation and maintenance services to the
customers.
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An environmental policy and manual of procedures have been
effective upon listing of the shares of the Company on GEM, which
demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental protection.
All staff, subcontractors and suppliers are required to diligently
implement the policy and the manual, which will be reviewed
regularly in light of experience, feedback from staff, business
development, current regulations and legislation.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Apart from the licensing requirement under the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance, the Group is not subject to any requirement to obtain
any particular approval or permit for carrying out the car park
flooring business in Hong Kong. The Dangerous Goods Ordinance
controls the usage, storage, manufacturing and conveyance of the
dangerous goods and sets out the relevant licensing requirements
in relation to these activities.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and Macau with the Company itself incorporated in the
Cayman Islands.

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Group’s
operations in Hong Kong and Macau have complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in the above jurisdictions in all
material respects during the year ended 31 March 2021, and up to
the date of this report.

Key relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors

The Directors are of the view that the Company has maintained
good relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors. During the year ended 31 March 2021, there
was no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, customers, suppliers and subcontractors.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 54 of this report.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, no dividend was declared to the
shareholders of the Company.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent
per share for the year ended 31 March 2021, subject to the approval
of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting on 27
August 2021 (the “AGM”).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the years ended 31 March 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are set
out on page 124 of this report. Such summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report. These transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which were required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
during the financial year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 24 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”). The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions

of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of

the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners and services providers of the Group and to

promote the success of the business of the Group.

Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time),
director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of
any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the INEDs) from time to time on the basis of his contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.
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(iv) Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

1. subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company as from the Adoption Date
(excluding, for this purpose, Shares issuable upon exercise
of options which have been granted but which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue.
Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
60,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result
from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 60,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the Share
Option Scheme.

2. The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at
any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10%
limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders containing
the information as required under the GEM Listing Rules in
this regard.
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(vi)

(vii)

3. The Company may seek separate approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting for granting options beyond
the 10% limit provided the options in excess of the 10% limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event, the
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing
a generic description of such grantees, the number and terms
of such options to be granted and the purpose of granting
options to them with an explanation as to how the terms of
the options will serve such purpose, such other information
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

4. The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such 30%
limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting. In
such event, the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the identity of the grantee, the number and terms of
the options to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the GEM Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price) of
the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose
of calculating the subscription price.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing on the date on the Adoption Date and shall
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier
by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share option has been granted or exercised under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2021. No share option was
outstanding as at 31 March 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 March 2021.

DEBENTURE
No debenture was issued by the Company during the year ended 31
March 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’ report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
year ended 31 March 2021 which (a) will or may result in the Company
issuing shares; or (ii) requires the Company to enter into an agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into

by the Company.

DONATION
The charitable donation made by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$30,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, each Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
claims and legal actions against the Directors and its officers.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions

in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 March 2021,
Directors or chief executive officer of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the

the interests or short positions of the

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities & Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
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pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating BKEBESET Mﬁx%ﬁﬁ/,jﬂ PAN/NE]
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the MBS EREAENT ¢
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
Long Position in the Shares R 17 12 B
Number of Approximate
Shares held percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest or interested shareholding
HFEREEER
Espng BmMts HROHE BARERD
Mr. Kwong Chi Man Interest in controlled 386,016,000 64.34%
(“Mr. Kwong”) corporation (Note 1)
BEXEE (BEE]D REZHER 2 #aw
(B 5E1)
Note 1:  Mr. Kwong beneficially owns 70% of the issued share capital fizE1: B L £ EF & M ASage City

of Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”), the beneficial
owner holding 64.34% shareholding in the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Kwong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares which
are beneficially owned by Sage City for the purpose of the SFO.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman and an executive Director of the

Company, and also a director of Sage City.
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Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of Director Nature of interest

Number of

shares held
or interested
in associated Percentage of

corporation shareholding

EERHEEREN
EENR EatE BB ZEROEE BEB DL
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”) Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,000 shares 30% in
in Sage City Sage City
EASEE (%)) Emsa A (fi2) 7 Sage City#Y A Sage City#y
3,0008% B% 13 30% &=
Note 2:  Mr. Yip is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the izt : EEEAKRATHNMTESHRTHE
Company. oo
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the B ENHEEN RZEZ—F=A=1+—

Directors or chief executive officer of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of the associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by the
Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(B) Substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’ interests

and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company

So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 March 2021, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
officer of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares
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Number of Approximate

Shares held percentage of

Name Nature of Interest or interested shareholding

HFERBEARER
EEps Bmng MRDEBE BARER D
Sage City Beneficial interest (Note 1) 386,016,000 64.34%
Ens (1)

Ms. Li Chuen Chun Interest of spouse (Note 2) 386,016,000 64.34%

ZHEYRL Ao (MEE2)

Notes:

1. Sage City is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
is owned by Mr. Kwong and Mr. Yip as to 70% and 30%, respectively.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman, an executive Director of the Company,
and also a director of Sage City. Mr. Yip is an executive Director and

chief executive officer of the Company.

2. Ms. Li Chuen Chun is the spouse of Mr. Kwong and is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Kwong is interested for the

purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors
were not aware that any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were required to
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND THEIR SERVICE CONTRACTS
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows.

Executive Directors
Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman) (re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 27 August 2020)
Mr. Yip Wai Man (re-elected on 27 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 30 August 2019)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

Each Director has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years and will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice to the other party.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 6 to 9 of this
report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 20 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Board will make recommendations
on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior
management. The remuneration committee regularly reviews and
determines, with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the
remuneration and compensation packages of individual Directors and
senior management by reference to, among other things, market level
of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the transactions set out in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report, the Group has not entered into any
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of member of the Group was a party and
in which a Director or a connected entity of that Director had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Other than members of the Group, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the controlling shareholder of the Company nor
any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Kwong and Sage City (together the “Covenantors”) entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Group (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) on 24 September 2016, details of which are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders
- Deed of non-competition” in the Prospectus (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”).
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The Company received from each of the Covenantors an annual
confirmation on their respective compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the compliance of the Non-competition Undertaking and evaluated the
effective implementation of the Deed of Non-competition, and they were
satisfied with the Covenantors’ compliance with the Non-competition
Undertaking for the year ended 31 March 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
During the year ended 31 March 2021,
its subsidiaries has entered into a contract by which (a) a person

neither the Company nor

undertakes the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company; and (b) the contract is
not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 49.6% of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
16.3% of the total revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s five largest suppliers
and subcontractors accounted for approximately 75.8% of the total
direct costs of the Group and the largest supplier and subcontractor of
the Group accounted for approximately 44.7% of the total direct costs.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and subcontractors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021 will be published around August 2021
based on the Group’s ESG Code in compliance with the requirements of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2021 is set out on pages 16 to 29 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
public float of the Company’s issued securities is sufficient with at least
25% held by the public.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$33.4 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”). PwC
will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the AGM. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that
requires disclosure.

By order of the Board
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Mr. Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021
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To the Shareholders of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 52
to 123, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BASIS FOR OPINION (Continued)
Independence

INDEPENDENT AUDITpR’ REP
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's IRBES A ASBAR (LS MMEEST
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have  BI) (LA TERE[TAI]) ZEBYN BEEE -

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. VEBTTFAFHEMEREEET -
KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, ﬁ%i%?r%lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf B X - RAREAR
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial ,ﬂv?é.\ﬁﬁiﬁlep&i’iﬁ’]%pfa—i%égﬁ’]%ﬁ EHE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the IEZIEE&T 1R ERGAVBRRRHAERE
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,  #1TRIEH - BRI T2 L EBEEHEBENE
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate & o

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: BMESTHENNBARETSEANT

e  Revenue recognition on construction contracts

s RBREADHMKSTER

e Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets s RBUREBIERREKRBEUARENEE

Key Audit Matter
BARETEIR

HO R (B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMWETNAEERRETSE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

BESANKEER

Refer to Notes 2.17, 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates.

BERBEBASER  ABRGNEE  B2HE56
B BRARME2.17 ~ 4(a) &5 °

For the year ended 31 March 2021, revenue
from construction contracts was approximately
HK$118.0 million (2020: approximately HK$94.8
million).

Bz-—T-——E#=f=+— EIJtiJ*  BEA N
##49118,000,000/ 7T (ZF =4 : £)94,800,000%
JT) °

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X st &£ B & E 2

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on construction
contracts included:

RMBRRESONKREERRRF B

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal
control and assessment process of revenue recognition
on construction contracts and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as subjectivity involved in significant management
judgement.

TH ESEAMRESONKERERN ARG RAERRF
WEEGHFIREENEEREMERRRRAZKT (MEXE
BEABMSRNIEMN)  UFGEASERRANER AR -

- Evaluated and validated key controls over revenue
recognition on construction contracts.

A KA BB E S M R R B S 5l -

- Enquired about and assessed management’s assumptions
on estimated costs to complete for a sample of projects,
including future subcontracting and material costs, by
referring to actual costs incurred for previously completed
projects. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated costs to complete.
BBL2ENATHNEENERKA  SANTREREYH T
P —E3E B BRI KA RE - BFERKAD B RK
A HAAITORE T EET TR AR ) BB o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNETOMEERRETSE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts (Continued)

BESHHKZER

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the Group’s
projects, which is calculated as a ratio of “total
costs incurred” to “total estimated costs for each
project”. Based on the stage of completion, the
Group recognises revenue as a percentage of the
total contract amount at the end of a reporting
period.

BEAHNKRER ESEBEATHER (RIEHE
BB RSB RN R E ) #
Re-BETKEE X BEEEERSHREREAOE
WX B DL HER WAO

Management judgement is involved in the
estimation of total costs to complete, including
assessment of future costs of materials and
subcontracting costs.

et EBTRNERR Y R EREHE - BfEFhR
RIMEERDBKAE o

We focused on this area as the determination
of stage of completion for a project involves
significant management judgement, which is
subject to a high degree of subjectivity and in turn
affects the recognition of revenue for the Group.
BAETFHIHSERERRER THERNET S K
SEFBENEAREREEHE ENMFE E5EOK
WIER °
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- Tested the total costs incurred as at the end of the reporting

period, on a sample basis, by checking to the underlying
documents supporting these costs (including invoices of
material costs and subcontracting fees). This included
performing cut-off testing on a sample basis for the revenue
recognised near the end of the reporting period, by checking
the appropriateness of the revenue journal entry timing.
BRREXFUSRANEBXG (BEMHKENS 28R
ER) HEREHERBELANENE - B RERERE
DHERNEEN  ERIRSHRAERNREMEETH L
B

- Discussed the status of projects under construction with

management to determine whether there could be other
factors affecting the calculation of stage of completion, for
example potential claims, by checking to subsequent events
and financial information available to us.
BEREHENEAHRAMAIESNHBER - BEEENRIE
ITPEENRANETEEREMRAETE (PINEERR) T
M E -

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found that the
recognition of construction contract revenue based on stage of
completion was supported by the available evidence.
BERFARTHRARERF  HMABA/RBETHKESRAZES NG
= AR RE M X R o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EPNEFTOMEERRETSE

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets

RUESRARBRRESURSNEENRE

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3.1(c), 4(b), 9 and 11 to
the consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.
ARAMBETEE 2 RAFORE  F28&K46
B3R R E2.9 ~ 3.1(c) * 4(b) » 9Kk 11 °

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had gross trade
and retention receivables and contract assets of
approximately HK$47.0 million and HK$3.8 million
(2020: HK$38.5 million and HK$10.1 million) and
provision for impairment of approximately HK$4.6
million and HK$0.02 million (2020: HK$2.4 million
and HK$0.2 million).
RZZEZ—F=ZA=+—H ' ESEEKEZFEX
RIEWRE ©ARE K EELEL S FIA47,000,000
75 7T 13,800,000 7t (= = Z 4 : 38,500,000/ JT
10,100,000/ 7. ) ifi /% 16 # {8 5 5l #94,600,0007%8 7T
%20,000/8 7T (ZZ = Z 4 : 2,400,000/ 7t % 200,000
AIL) °

Management performed the impairment
assessment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets based on the information included,
but not limited to the credit profile of different
customers, the aging profiles, their knowledge
about the customers, market conditions and past
settlement patterns. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
loss for the impairment assessment.

ERERE(BTRR) TREFHNEERR  RikiE
A HEPHRHE Mzl BREEERAEEH
HEKEIEFIRERRESUARGNEEEITRE
Al ERENMERARTETFEERERLE RN
RENERIRMER - SEEDRENENEREEEE -

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X st &£ B & E 2

Our procedures in relation to impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets included:
BMNEHARRESRR BRREBSRGNEERENEFBRE

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal control

and assessment process of impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as complexity and subjectivity involved in significant
management judgement.

TR EEEAHRNEIRIRERREEURGHNEEN
WES A BEG KGR TERGHIREENER R
fitEEEREZKF (MERNEREANGMPRNEEEERE
BIM) - DARTAl 8 K8 AR Rt ) (& 75 LB o

- Evaluated and validated the design and operating

effectiveness of the key controls over debt collection and the
impairment assessment process, in particular those over the
identification of impaired receivables and the calculation of
the impairment provision.

AT fil KB A B 0 1 75 KR ME AT ik AR e A R S 4 R B R AT I
EERC - R A B 2R (E R YR Kt R ERE G
Pl o

- Tested the accuracy of the ageing of trade and retention

receivables on a sample basis by tracing to the respective
invoices.

NEMEREZENA  BEASRERE SRR KRERRE S
R B ERENE -

- Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit losses

provision methodology.
AEEREEERRETEZNABEME -

- Enquired about and assessed the information and data used

to determine the expected credit losses by considering the
cash collection performance against historical trends, the
level of credit loss changes over time, certain customers’
individual credit ratings and the reasonableness of forward —
looking information.
BARELBEZERSWHIBN - EEBHEKTHERREHNE
bt ETEPHEMNEENRRAELEENNSIEY  HEEHE
HEEBEEEMERNER REERE LS AW ETHE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNETOMEERRETSE

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets (Continued)

FRKESRARBRREESURENEENRE (E)

We focused on this area because trade and
retention receivables and contract assets represent
49% of current assets and certain balances are
long aged. The estimation of impairment under
the expected credit loss model is also subject
to high degree of estimate uncertainty due to
subjectivity of significant assumptions used and
significant judgements involved in selecting data

Discussed with management the recoverability of individually
significant receivables, corroborating management
explanations by checking to the status of underlying projects,
information about contracted parties and subsequent
settlements, if any. We also tested the existence of
subsequent settlement on a sample basis by checking to the
underlying bank pay-in slips.

BRI B 5 o (A Bl & 22 A0 KR IR A AT R 1B BB LWAMH

for calculation. BIEB MR FTAAMERMERK (INE) ERE R
HMPEREINHBEELRAEKE S ERLER RS HRRRR o T M9 7R E 4B B R 2 #E A R 17 S 5 BE T b AR ﬁﬁﬁ{ém

TUARBNEEBRRDEENL9%  METHFER
KK - AR RAEABRROEIEMEURKEFE
RS RNERAE  REBRNEEERERLET
HOR BT IF R B st N EE M -

BRENEE -

We found that management’s assessment of the impairment of
trade and retention receivables and contract assets was supported

by the available audit evidence.
BEMRAEEEARKESRFRERRE ARG DB ERBERNT
1EXEEH__H%$:# AR u;ﬁﬁfii—rﬁ'l

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in “Corporate
“Profile of Directors and Senior
“Corporate
and “Five-Year Financial

Information”, “Chairman’s Statement”,

Management”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
Governance Report”, “Directors’ Report”
Summary” (but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, and “Environmental Social Governance Report”,

which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read “Environmental Social Governance Report”, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to audit committee and take appropriate
action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X st &£ B & E 2

/
-y

R
iﬁiﬁ

P
4=
[=]
|
ERBMEHTNIE  NERMNAAEMES
BEEAEREL RMEERsRE

FE RS EEARE -

—m
=

11
&Y

Dff
=103
N

EHRMMERE HERERRE]K  WRR
PMRREDFEERBRIL - HAVARER
28958 LTHEZEIRMOZZENMES
MEREETE °

EENERZEERGEUBRRAREN
5

BERRIEXZARERBEEGAMAGREMM
(BEMBREEA) REBB(ABRIDNKE
RERBEEMPENEAUBERER - UHER

RMEFNEANERRAAFONBEFEE -

ERBRAMBERRE EFRANE E5E
RERENEN  YEERBATREEREL
ERMMER  URERFALERGER
RFEEAENR EREBRAFLLE - I5
EHMERNERA TR

ENZESRAREE ERENUBHREER
iz

RBAHEA GRS BEBRRARNER

ZMWER  EHEAMBRREBREI A
AREEF R B R M EROEABRRAERG &2
RE LHABEAMERNZBM®RE - &M
ERART(ERER) RERMNER KRtz
SIRREREEMBE - AT EHARENA
BREFMEMALE FSEREEMEME - 5BR
BREKFHRE BTREFRB(EBER
ERDETHET  AX - BABERRAFER
ABRETI o SRRRIRAL AT LA i BRFF SRR BIAE - 10
ReBERBEMEERELERITETEGSY
MR E KBS A MR ME O RER
E o ABHNBRRAATRREEX

[
%
ol

49



e
' |

: I'\ ;

'|
ENDENTAUDITOR'S REPORT
BOBW B s E

EP

/
: |

.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

" CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AéDI

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when,
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report

in extremely rare circumstances, we
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Chung Kit Yi, Kitty.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021
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@ { '
SOLI\DATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
N :

, B & B B K R %
f | " Asat 31 March 2021 J§=% == =1—H
3 ) |‘ -
Ii' 1] J |
.- / il
[ , [ As at 31 March
’ |5 R=A=+-—-H
Note 2021 2020
HK$ BT B 5 —EB--F —EC-TF
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE R 6 9,555,793 10,429,843
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7 26,662,002 27,837,217
Deferred tax assets EIERITHE E 14 2,087 -
36,219,882 38,267,060
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 8 10,632,382 13,911,727
Trade and retention receivables EUE SRR R ERRE € 9 42,412,638 36,090,790
Prepayments and other receivables B 5008 K H b e M R IE 10 1,948,654 1,373,601
Contract assets ENEE 11 3,806,702 9,921,105
Current income tax recoverable A W 2 BN EA B 15 A 349,588 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 12 34,551,775 19,612,765
93,701,739 80,909,988
Total assets EEHAE 129,921,621 119,177,048
EQUITY &
Share capital [N 13 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves & 61,271,936 61,282,259
Retained earnings RE R 33,371,435 17,803,615
100,643,371 85,085,874
Non-controlling interests FERER (241,129) (92,375)
Total equity e En okl 100,402,242 84,993,499
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FIN

‘; |l.
f

[~

As at 31 March

ANCIAL POSITI
& & BB

S

As at 31 March 2021 m:$:+¢3)§5+ia | |l l\'
| | iy

| : |Il & \l.l ‘i]lll'

.II ]ll o i

R=B=+-H =\ ‘.
Note 2021 2020
HK$ BT B 5E —E--F —T-EF
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEMEHAE 14 89,085 127,299
Lease liabilities HERE 7 254,228 83,129
343,313 210,428
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables FETE 5 IR K 15 11,361,046 16,005,204
Accruals and other payables FEst & R I H fth FE T 50 16 1,594,942 1,360,696
Contract liabilities AHEE 11 4,098,358 4,457,487
Bank borrowings RITEE 17 9,410,482 10,130,503
Lease liabilities HERE 7 315,817 590,125
Current income tax liabilities BIEApT S B & 2,395,421 1,429,106
29,176,066 33,973,121
Total liabilities aERE 29,519,379 34,183,549
Total equity and liabilities EERkEEEHE 129,921,621 119,177,048

The notes on pages 58 to 123 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

EE8E123A Z M RAIEE

MBmER2AXED

The consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 123 were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2021 and

were signed on its behalf.

FE2E1BA I AMBREABEFTEN

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
BEXE4E
Director

EF

—EC—EAACtEERELMUTEEREES

=

Mr. Yip Kong Lok

ERLEYE
Director

EF

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X 32 & B B R
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= a8 & B W & %

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ - 4 =H=+—HIL4FE

SOLEIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEFE

Note 2021 2020
HK$ BT P & —B--F —E_FF
Revenue & 5 118,873,665 95,024,421
Cost of sales =R 19 (77,098,570) (65,644,929)
Gross profit EF 41,775,095 29,379,492
Other income/(losses) Hilezs/ (E8) 18 1,475,693 (9,681)
Impairment loss on trade and retention EE SRR ERRE
receivables and contract assets URENEEZRERBE 9, 11 (2,078,021) (1,028,640)
General and administrative expenses — R RITHRAX 19 (22,665,273) (20,406,014)
Operating profit il 18,507,494 7,935,157
Finance costs, net BT A AN 5 B 21 (310,298) (316,847)
Profit before income tax PR P45 % Al s A 18,197,196 7,618,310
Income tax expense FERimAX 22 (2,773,318) (1,482,564)
Profit for the year FERA 15,423,878 6,135,746
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: L FERR, (BE) -
- Owners of the Company S VNETEZZ=DN 15,567,820 6,212,831
- Non-controlling interests — IR i R (143,942) (77,085)
15,423,878 6,135,746
Other comprehensive loss: Hi2mHER
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss At EH D ER B 2B R
- Exchange difference on translation of —MENBREBZER
foreign operations =5 (15,438) (804)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Hit2HEEE  NRHIE (15,438) (804)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZ2HEWEEE 15,408,440 6,134,942
Total comprehensive income/(loss) B2 HEKEAE :
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company S VNETEZZ=DN 15,557,497 6,212,027
- Non-controlling interests — JEIERR R (149,057) (77,085)
15,408,440 6,134,942
Earnings per share attributable to owners A2 F#EE AEEER
of the Company B
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —EAREE (GRB) 24 2.59 1.04

The notes on pages 58 to 123 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
EBE1BEZMEARRGENBRER AKX S °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF C

Share

capital

e

(Note 13(a))

AT (BiH13(a))

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &% =

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARG

Share
premium
RHEE

(Note 13(a))
(BH13(a))

Translation
reserve

BEERE

Non-

controlling
interests
FERER

Balance at 1 April 2019
as originally presented

Change in accounting policies

Restated balance at 1 April 2019

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive loss for
the year

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

Dividends (Note 23)

Balance at 31 March 2020

RZE-NEMA
—BRERRES 6,000,000

8iHERY -

52,482,955

(15,098)

(192)

AEIIR-F-NED
R-RNEE 6,000,000

52,482,955

(15,290)

FREH/ (BR) =
EEAMREEE

AENELENE R
= =

(804)

(77,085)

EE2E(58)/
gt =

(804)

(77,085)

WaWi2s) -

R=Z-2£=]
=t-Bi&H 6,000,000

52,482,955

=

(804)

(92,375)

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X



TEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

2021 RE_FR - —F=A=+—HILHE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN N
Non-
Share Share Capital  Shareholder  Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve contribution reserve earnings Total interests Total

k& ROEE  EARE  RREE  BERE  REEA Bt FERES @it
(Note 13(a))  (Note 13(a))  (Note 13(b)) ~ (Note 13(c))

HKS AT (WsE1s(2)  (H&13@)  (H13p)  (KEE13(c)
Balance at 1 April 2020 RZZZE£MA

—ANEs 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (804) 17803615 85085674 (92,375) 84993499
Profitl(loss) for the year EERA/ (BB - - - - - 15567820 15567820  (143.042) 15423678

Other comprehensive loss for ~~ FERM2EFE

the year
Exchange differences on BENELENES

translation of foreign operations EH - - - - (10,323) - (10,323) (5,115) (15,438)
Total comprehensive FE2E(FR)/

(loss)fincome for the year hEa%E - - - - (10323) 15,567,820 15557497  (149,057) 15,408,440
Capital injection from the RE-FEHBAAFE

non-controling sharefolder ERRRMEE

of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 303 303
Balance at 31 March 2021 R=BZ-£=5

=t-AEs 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (11,127) 33,371,435 100,643,371 (241,129) 100,402,242

The notes on pages 58 to 123 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

FE8E123B ZMABARGAMBHRE 2EKILH o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF pA H FL

= & B %

o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 % — % SE=H =SE HIRAEBE

Year ended 31 March

\

| .L \

BE=B=1t—HLEE

Note 2021 2020

HK$ BT P & ——F 45
Cash flows from operating activities RETBFMEHERE
Net cash generated from operations KRS FRE 26(a) 19,763,253 2,966,904
Income taxes paid BERETEH (2,196,892) (688,922)
Net cash generated from operating activities &2 /ZBEFR & 17,566,361 2,277,982
Cash flows from investing activities REZHMERELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ EEW% BE LEH (921,137) (341,052)
Interest income received B U A B A 14,606 57,048
Net cash used in investing activities KA EE AR S (906,531) (284,004)
Cash flows from financing activities MEZHMESRERE
Dividend paid 2R A 23 - (4,200,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings EBBRIEE 26(c) (720,021) (618,488)
Payment of lease liabilities TNHEEERE 26(c) (658,032) (815,357)
Interest paid BEAF A (324,904) (373,895)
Capital injection from non-controlling R B FE AR A R Y

shareholder TE 303 =
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHAEES (1,702,654) (6,007,740)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BEeRBESSENF

cash equivalents 2,/ () 14,957,176 (4,013,762)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUONBRERELEEY

of the year 19,612,765 23,627,331
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNES T R B R 3 2 (18,166) (804)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year EXHRERELEEY 34,551,775 19,612,765
The notes on pages 58 to 123 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
FE8E12BAZMEARAGREMBIHR 2ARE S -
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-(I;ENERAL INFORMATION

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 30 May 2016 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place
of business is 21/F, The Bedford, 91-93 Bedford Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of engineering services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid surfacing, specialised texture painting and
waterproofing works. The controlling shareholder of the Company
is Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) and the parent company of
the Company is Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company listed its shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 13 October 2016 (the “Listing”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGL
a8 9

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New standards and amendments to existing Standards
and interpretations adopted by the Group
The following new and amendments to existing
standards and interpretations are mandatory for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2020.

Standards Subject of amendments

Conceptual Framework for ~ Revised Conceptual
Financial Reporting 2018 Framework for Financial
Reporting
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 39,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Reform

There are no other new standards and amendments to
existing standards and interpretations that are effective
for the first time for this reporting period that could be
expected to have a material impact on the Group.

ll;i\

2 EBASHBREHEE)

2.1

RREE (&)
RRTABAUGRE LN ZGEH
BHREAFBECAE THRE G-
ENEREEERERBARE G
RMBRTPITERLHE D - FRRS
HE R EMRENEE  AHEa
BHRRAEZORRNG BT
P AR E -

(a) AEERAFERREGEA
CHE =3
IO AR R B LR 2B FT A
2R T -_TFMA—HRAK
) B IR 6 5 08 AR A

28] Bz EE

ZE-N\EHE KB
fEZR

ERMBRE EBHER

2E BI| SB35 A9

EE)

BRI EN EANEER

FIRLES

258

FEBHRAEE]

BEREEHER  FEEE

E39%% - BB B

B 7 5 22 A

BIRRED

B 7% ¥R 5 2 B

FORMEE]

BER A SRS SR R M
MR EMEREAYEHEL
SOERIR B RN ETRR
B
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II ‘ % M\ %I

"SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHHEHE(E)

_ (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)
(b) New standards and amendments to existing Sstandards (b) HAREIA 5K A E

and interpretations that are not yet effective and have PER R B ERLZ

not been early adopted by the Group

'Zal 1TH

The following new standards and amendments to VAR 722 Bl )R 33 B 22 B 2 (B 2T A0
existing standards and interpretations have been REBELAM  BHR-_Z_F
published and are not effective for accounting periods FOA—BRBHEE BRI AR
beginning on 1 April 2020 and have not been early HERUA RSB BARATERA :

adopted by the Group:

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or after

Standards Subject of amendments HUT A 2%

R B2 E&E a8t FEER

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020

BRMBHREENF16FAER] AR2019B R B ERAE S TR —E-TFRA—H

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: 1 April 2022
Proceeds Before Intended Use

EAWEHEAE 16K M5 m¥ - BERRE  FRERRNN “E--FMmA—A
Fi8 3R

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contract — Cost of Fulfilling a 1 April 2022

o ‘ Contract )

BB G ERIEITHRNER] BRESH-BHAKK ZZ-—FmA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 April 2022

BRI REERFEIRNEF] R SRAEZR ZZ-=—FmMA—H

Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 1 April 2022
2020

FREYGEIER BEAMBRERU_F-N\FE_F-F —F-__FNA-H
FEBZFENE

Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control 1 April 2022

o Combination

RIERT & 51551 F55% HEZGE NS EE —E-_FMA—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements on 1 April 2023
Classification of Liability

BR G ERE1ROERT 2 BHRRNEESE —T-=FmMA—H

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 April 2023

BRVBREENFI7H RigE 4 —E-=-fFMA—H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 April 2023

Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
ERREFESW (ZT_ZF) IBRBREH2S —ERAHSARERE —T_=FMA—H
ERTNEHRERN D HE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture
BEMBREEE105% & REEREBENRSIABEEZHANE BTEE
jﬁégﬁﬁﬂ”%%% ELEIIE
JEE]
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SBAEHNHEME(8)
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)

(b) New standards and amendments to existing Sstandards

and interpretations that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)
The Group will adopt the new and revised standards
and interpretations when they become effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the
related impact of adopting the above new and amended
standards and interpretations, none of which is
expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

2.2 Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

(b) AR LELLA A H K BIE TR

MR R T FERZ EGTH
2E(E)
SR BRI R R AT A
BRI ERIMEE - REEDH
ARHS R L3 T R AR B AT 2
ANMBRRZEEYE  BHHES
EHAKB RAMBRREL
EX®FE-

22 HEAH

HEKA
MEARSAREEHEAEHREN
ER(BREREER) - EAKEA
XRFRLAERMG < AZEE
BERNERESERZENTEX
EOWE - AIARBEEZGZER W
BRANKAEBEHEERTARE
ZREREAAR Y BZEHNERL
ZAEFLEEAR-

ARERNRRAZEANRS - &8 W
ARBRE TUAHE KAKERA
AR SN R ER (ERNEE)
T LASEH - (B AR BIRRE
REBEHRE  UBRERESTRE
EARERANGABR K-

MEARFEE MRS IFERER
DRNEERBRE  Ha2HEH NS
REGARREHRPERZT
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'r"‘-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised

in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.
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'-‘SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the directors of the Group who make strategic decisions.

Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 30 years

Leasehold improvements  Shorter of remaining period of
the lease or 3 years

3 years

3 years

Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises costs of purchase and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to the construction
sites to be consumed in the provision of construction
services.

Financial assets

(a) Classification
The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial assets at
amortised cost are those that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. The Group’s
financial assets at amortised cost comprise of trade and
retention receivables, other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. For
financial assets at amortised cost, interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applied the simplified approach permitted
under HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.10 Trade, retention and other receivables

2.11

Trade, retention and other receivables are amounts due from
customers for services performed in the ordinary course of
business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional. The Group
holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. When a trade, retention and other receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade, retention and other receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If collection of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If no, they are presented as non-current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less.

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.
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- . _ISUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
/ o™ (Continued)
2.13 Trade and other payables

REFTBREHE (R)

213 BENEZRAREMENRIE

68

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers and sub-contractors. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
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and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the NEERR  HENERR R LS
effective interest method. SHEX AT E o
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2.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as

finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.15 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on

the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable

income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in

deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses. Current and deferred

tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it

relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income

or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

2.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow

with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SASHHEME(H)

(Continued)

2.16 Provisions (Continued) 2.16 #fE (&)
Provisions are measured at the present value of the BERBEEARNENETE X HH
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation HERFTHARMEEREMEHEB 2K
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments BEEMNTERZETHNEERRA
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the TARTBE IR K+ & o (B R R m & in
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of MEERRAFEMX -

time is recognised as interest expense.

2.17 Revenue recognition 217 &R HER
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration WaHEE Rk EWRERNAFEE:T
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for B RECEEEBBERREERS
services rendered in the normal course of business. RIEW £ %8 -
(a) Construction contracts (a) BESLH

Revenue from the construction services is recognised
over time as the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

The Group has applied the input method in
recognising the revenue from construction contracts
by reference to the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction on a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation. Accordingly, the Group uses
the “percentage-of-completion method” to determine
the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in a
given period. The stage of completion is measured by
reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of
total contract costs.

The Group considers the input method better depicts the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services to their customers.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to
be recoverable.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included in contract revenue to the extent
that may have been agreed with the customer and are
capable of being reliably measured.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress
toward completion are revised if circumstances change.
Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated
revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the
period in which the circumstances that give rise to the
revision become known by management.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on a
If the services rendered by the
a contract asset is

payment schedule.
Group exceed the payment,
recognised. If the payments exceed the services

rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

All construction contracts by the Group are warranted
to be free of defects for a period of one year. Expected
cost for warranty repairs are accrued when necessary.

No element of financing is deemed present as payments
are in accordance with the typical payment terms of the
relevant industry.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due. Contract
liabilities are recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAﬁ {AL TATEM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SASHHEME(H)

(Continued)

2.18 Interest income 2.18 FEWA
Interest income is presented as finance income where ENEWAKXEAESEEENME
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash ENEEE  BIZEEEEA - F
management purposes. Any other interest income is included AE AR SW AL BIEEEM KA

in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective FBWANE R EELAEDEREB
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial ERFAXRFUNE  HEEREREE
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become RENESREERN -HEERESR
credit-impaired. For credit impaired financial assets, the MEEMS  ERMNEEARSHE
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of EREFE (MKREBEEER) -

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.19 Employee benefits 2.19 EERF

(a) Employee leave entitlements (a)
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations (b)

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan
in Hong Kong and pays contributions to privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.

(c) Bonus plan (c)
The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s
owners. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice
that has created a constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EA&:HEME(E)
(Continued)

2.20 Leases 2.20 HE
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of MAEEET —HLHE(BE—ER
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines SU—RIRS) AEZE—TBE #5
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use BER—BRHRN 2 EREHE X
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for BRRE  ZBERFENAXEEMR
consideration. Such determination is made on an evaluation ElD - BREREDREFEZBLR
of the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether B2 BEEL  THRzETHERRF
the arrangements take the legal form of a lease. RAHEEEERRK -
The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with AEE (EAEABAN) BB TEN A
respect to certain premises, motor vehicles and equipment. BRREBITLEERZ -
Leases are initially recognised as right-of-use assets and %%ﬁff§37#$%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ il
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased asset EeNSRAFERAEEEREES
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is B SHEENREABEBNTBEAZ
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance BMETHE - MEKAEREHRHRR
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to Bk UnESHRaEREST
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining BEENBHENE - FHEEENE
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset BEEEEZMENREHARMER
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the REEWNE -

asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially HEMEANMEERBBISEEE

measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include BEEGE -HELBEEBEUATHEN

the net present value of the following lease payments: FREFIRE :

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), o FEEMK(BE ;ﬁ, ERF) B
less any lease incentives receivable; FREKEERS

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a o ERBHEXMEMIALZEEN
rate; ;o

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under o  FIREEERTRAMEATEEME
residual value guarantees; NHIA

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is o BEREERMNITEE(HAEA
reasonably certain to exercise that option; SREETEZERR)

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the e TAKRIEAEMIIF(WEISHR
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option; and M A FE ATTERFI R IEF )

K

e |ease payments to be made under reasonably certain o REAEWTEELRMAHEDL
extension options are also included in the measurement MHEEN K ARE B BRI
of lease liabilities. Eo
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.20 Leases (Continued)

2.21

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive received;

e any initial direct costs; and

J restoration costs, if any.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value when
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the combined statements of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred income and are credited to combined statements
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X 32 & B B R
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UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)
2.22 Dividend distribution

BEREHBRHE (&)

2.22 RE DK

76

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, as
appropriate.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and is
exposed to exchange risk from various currency
exposures.

As the assets and liabilities of each company within
the Group are mainly denominated in the respective
company’s functional currency, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s volatility of its profits against
changes in exchange rates of foreign currencies would
not be significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN TEME

= 8 71 Ti

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UBERERE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)
(b) Interest rate risk (b) %@

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Bank borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by the bank
deposits. Lease liabilities issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The interest rate
profile of bank borrowings is disclosed in Note 17. The
bank deposits generate interest at the prevailing market
interest rates.

As at 31 March 2021, if interest rates had been 25 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$52,000 (2020:
HK$20,000), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income over expense on floating rate bank deposits and
bank borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and
retention receivables, contract assets, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of
these balances except cash on hand in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

The majority of the Group’s bank balances are placed
in financial institutions which are independently rated
with high credit ratings. Management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by these financial
institutions as they have no default history in the past.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Other receivables are also subject to the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9. It is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition, impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. As at 31
March 2021 and 2020, the identified impairment loss for
other receivables is assessed to be minimal.

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade
and retention receivables and contract assets without
financing components.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and
retention receivables have been grouped based on the

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The Group divided trade and retention receivables
and contract assets into two categories to measure
the expected credit loss rates. Category 1 is for
customers who have a relatively low credit risk and no
default history. Category 2 is for customers who have
a relatively higher credit risk. With different types of
customers, the Group calculated the expected credit
loss rates respectively.

For category 1, the Group considers that these
customers have a good credit profile and no default
history. Also, these customers are financially capable
of settling the outstanding amount. The expected credit
loss for these customers are assessed individually.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 WMERKRERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEREEEZE(E)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) 1EEREE (&)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEWE Z AR5 R EWIRE 7 A K
(Continued) BHEE (&)
For category 2, the expected credit loss rates for the mEEmE  BREZIERR
trade and retention receivables is determined according JEWRBENEEEEBEXR
to a provision matrix where balances that are less than REHEEEETE  Hpafid
12 months overdue are provided for at expected credit R 1218 A B & 8RR T XT3 69 78
loss rates per below and trade and retention receivables HEEEEBEREE mEKEZES
more than 12 months overdue are 100% provided for. R RERRE 1218 A Al
DEEE -
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 RULEE - BB F R ER
and 2020 was determined as follows for trade and REBEeN_E-_—FR_ZT_F
retention receivables. F=RA=T—HEBEREET
(I
Category 1: Customers have a relatively low credit E1E FERREYBREAR
risk and no default history BNRBNER
Trade and retention
receivables
ERESZERRRERRES
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —EB--F —T-THF
Gross carrying amount REBE 24,800,272 16,897,171
Expected credit loss rates (Note) BHEEBEX (i) 0.2% 0.3%
Loss allowance EEEE (47,604) (50,692)
Net carrying amount REFE 24,752,668 16,846,479
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i ! | 3" FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UXRERERE(E)
! III' ™ 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 Eﬂ“ﬂ bR = ()
; (c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) &)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets /7&1&555;%@\&/7&‘1&/7% 75 L JG
(Continued) BHEE (&)
Category 2: Customers have a relatively higher credit F2E  CERABEHESMN
risk BF

Trade and retention receivables

EREZRIRELRES

Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 31 to 60 61 to 90 over 90

Current 30 days days days days Total
308 ok L B
HKS$ BT b mEH  31Z60E 61290  EiB90A @5t
As at 31 March 2021 R=ZE--%=4
=t-H
Gross carrying amount Ept 9,380,112 2,908,912 1,819,155 2,612,795 5,475,381 22,196,355
Expected credit loss rates FAHIEEERR
(Note) (i) 1.0% 7.9% 12.6% 19.1% 63.6% -
Loss allowance BERE (93,690)  (230,968)  (228,930)  (498,721) (3,484,076) (4,536,385)
Net carrying amount REFE 9,286,422 2,677,944 1,500,225 2,114,074 1,991,305 17,659,970
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-%%
=R=1-H
Gross carrying amount Epat 10,075,805  1,373915 3388532 1508964  5207,293 21,554,509
Expected credit loss rates  BEIEEBER
(Note) (#it) 2.5% 2.6% 3.4% 57% 35.0% =
Loss allowance BEAE (251,895)  (35722)  (115,210)  (86,011) (1,821,360) (2,310,198)
Net carrying amount REFE 9823910 1,338,193 3273322 1,422,953 3385933 19,244 311
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

3

Fna 8

PaN
=)

B %

BB EBER () G
3.1 EWH .

[ = (%)

also takes into account forward looking information on factors
relevant to the industry in which the Group and its customers

operate, such as investment level of Hong Kong.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X
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(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets ﬁéﬁ/yé’gﬁﬁmﬁﬁé‘z/ﬂ% B2 R
(Continued) BHIEE (&)
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress BHEERRRABEENERIR
and have substantially the same risk characteristics Bl - EERREE N ENEE
as the current trade receivables for the same types of WE ZEFZEBABER - A
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the ﬁt AEBSLHERE BEE
expected credit loss rates for trade receivables are RRNEREEBRXES
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the %@é%l@ﬁ?ﬁ’}il%é\@*ﬁ o Rk
contract assets. On that basis, the loss allowance as at i E?fA%’UEF?EZED/{T%
31 March 2021 and 2020 was determined as follows for B GFR-TE_TF=H
contract assets. “+—HZEBERE-
Contract assets BHEE

Category 1  Category 2 Total
HK$ BT E18 E248 et
As at 31 March 2021 RZBZ—-F

=B=+-—H
Gross carrying amount REAE 2,522,680 1,301,867 3,824,547
Expected credit loss rates (Note) TBHEEEBEEX (f:7) 0.2% 1.0% -
Loss allowance BiERE (4,842) (13,003) (17,845)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,517,838 1,288,864 3,806,702
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZFZA
=+—H

Gross carrying amount IREAAE 4,137,193 5,946,835 10,084,028
Expected credit loss rates (Note) JEHEEBEX (f7) 0.3% 2.5% =
Loss allowance EiERE (12,652) (150,271) (162,923)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,124,541 5,796,564 9,921,105
Note: Mzt
Expected credit losses rates were determined based on the EHEEEEXEBERERNH R
Group’s internal and historical credit loss data, the days past RBAEEBREE  TEAHXH
due and the probability of default of customers. The Group REXBEMETE o REB IR KR EE

AEERERPHRITFERM AR
ZAEEER  MEBBZREKF
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'r"?FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade and retention receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group. Impairment losses on trade and retention
receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Liguidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding from
external parties.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
payments for capital expenditures, loan repayment,
trade payables, other creditors, accrued liabilities and
operating expenses. Accordingly, the directors are of
the opinion that the Group does not have significant

liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Fair values of balances due on
demand or less than 1 year approximate their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UXERER(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) mHEZ
Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a HEgms -
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised foe % (% 16 ?k—JEE‘f T2EBNE
at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the RETE)NRTEE  UTH
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the W AREB I Z R AFRITE
Group can be required to pay, that is if the lender were ENxFHBRNReRE - AR
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with RERAE S| HE G FR-R AL
immediate effect. BB E R AIER

On demand Between Between

or less than 1and 2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
HKS$ BT —EF  -ERER  ZERER BELE @zt
As at 31 March 2021 R-B--F=fA=1-H
Trade payables ERESER 11,361,046 - - - 11,361,046
Financial liabilities included in ST B R R At
acoruals and other payables FELERAR 1,029,537 - - - 1,029,537
Bank borrowings and interest payables  $/THEE RER TS 9,628,321 - - - 9,628,321
Lease liabilities and interest payables & 8 EREMH & 321,609 242,909 15,304 - 585,822
22,346,513 242,909 15,304 - 22,604,726
As at 31 March 2020 RZB-ZBFZA=1-H
Trade payables LS 16,005,204 - - - 16,005,204
Financial liabilities included in AR BR RA MR
accruals and other payables HEZERER 920,918 - - - 920,918
Bank borrowings and interest payables  $H1TiEEREMT & 10,365,814 = = - 10365814
Lease liabilities and interest payables I E&EREMFIS 600,730 88,079 - - 688,809
27,892,666 88,079 - - 27,980,745
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“FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UXRERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBEZ (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) i

- Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on HEEFHZLESRENKER
demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional E’HbﬁA ZIER R TFERAEE
right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable o] BR P A 488 5 4 1 2B M B SR A 42
are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the T REEENSEEREAER
lender could demand repayment. Based on the internal AR ZERERNREER - BIE
information provided by management, it is expected EEEREHONIEE  BitE
that the lender will not exercise its rights to demand RATETFEEFEROER -
repayment. The expected cash flows with reference %%Emﬁéaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁaﬁ%
to the schedule of repayments set out in the loan WEMReRENT

agreements are as follows:

Between Between

Less than 1and2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
HK$ AT -ER  -ERER  ZZLER BRLE h)
As at 31 March 2021 RZB=-£ZR=+-H
Bank borrowings and interest payables $H/TfEE R EMF 5 955,332 955,332 2,865,996 5,972,382 10,749,042
As at 31 March 2020 RZB-REZR=1-H
Bank borrowings and interest payables FERT#R{TEE kTS 955,332 955,332 2865996 6927714 11704374
3.2 Capital risk management 32 EXEKRER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AREBEREEANBZARBEAEER
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern BELENE N tmARRRER
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits o WAEMAFZBRERENZER
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital B HREEREE KB AR o
structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group BEFNAREREE  AEEAH
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, BRRFRMFORE  ARREEE
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets R BITHRSL EEELNRDER

to reduce debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGI
s & B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 EXERERE ()
Total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus NEE 7 EREEDIRERETENE
total borrowings (including bank borrowings and lease EnE(ERTEERMEERR) &

liabilities). The gearing ratio of the Group was as follows: o KEBNERBELRMT ¢
As at 31 March
KR=A=+—8

2021 2020
HK$ BT —E_—F —T_FF
Bank borrowings (Note 17) RITEBE (M E17) 9,410,482 10,130,503
Lease liabilities (Note 7) TEE:E% (HtE7) 570,045 673,254
Total borrowings BEE 9,980,527 10,803,757
Total equity Bl 100,402,242 84,993,499
Total capital FEEZFN 110,382,769 95,797,256
Gearing ratio BRAELX 9.0% 11.3%

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEMHE

The carrying values of trade receivables, retention EWEZER BUERES  HifE
receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, WEE BehBEeEEBY BHE
trade payables, accruals and other payables, bank SR Bt B A R H it BN FRIE
borrowings and lease liabilities are a reasonable RITEENRAEAENERES A
approximation of their fair values. The fair value of financial ANEENGENE - AUBEENS R
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting BEAEEEBEAEEGEALSR
the future contractual cash flows at the current market TAABZERTHEMNREREKAL
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial BERERIE T AL -
instruments.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have an impact on
the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when trade and retention receivables and contract assets
are impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit losses
from each customer. In making the judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of follow-up
procedures, customer payment trends including subsequent
payments, customers’ financial positions and expected future
change of credit risks, including consideration of factors such
as general economy measure, changes in macro-economic
indicators, etc. Details of assumptions and inputs used are
discussed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGL
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4

(Continued)
(c) Income taxes

(c)

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the

provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions

and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is

uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax

audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes

will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is

different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such

differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination

BESRESTEET R A (&)

FriSH
AEBABREBERRFMER - 1
BEMSHAGRBEELEARH
B-ARERETRS METHHA
R M REBIBR T DA
E o ARBERBHBIMBERE K2
B EARBEAHREREERRE
B RMUEEFRZEERBERE]
FARZEBEMIR MAEBER
BEe8ErtERET BRI NHR
BEEMBHEERAR -

is made.
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WaksHER
Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t-HLEE

2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —T-TF
Flooring o 3F 98 5% 106,707,155 89,926,643
Ancillary services flE R 75 11,246,775 4,890,618
Sales of materials SHE MK 919,735 207,160
118,873,665 95,024,421

Timing of revenue recognition: U 2 T 3R A MR )
At a point in time REEE 919,735 207,160
Over time e PR 117,953,930 94,817,261
118,873,665 95,024,421
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"REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker of the Group who review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial statements
accordingly.

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong with substantially all
its non-current assets located and capital expenditure incurred in
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, revenue was earned from
customers located in Hong Kong and Macau of HK$108,406,751
(2020: HK$85,004,264) and HK$10,466,914 (2020:
HK$10,020,157), respectively.

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

5

Wz Kk o EEHR (F)
HITEFCRE/TEENIELERE

% Wit AR E NP AR R
BOERER EEHARENEHR S —
BEED ML AEERGE A BRE -

AREIENBRERERY  HETHAE
FERBEENRBELEARINERE
EO

HE_E_—F=ZA=+—-HLEHFE"
1¢éum§\,%&>‘$?ﬁﬂﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂxmuﬁzé
2 Bl £108,406,7518 L (ZE T F :
85,004,264/ 70) }10,466,9148 L (= Z

T4 110,020,157/ T) °

BB A s BB 10% M E S A e
mF

Year ended 31 March

BHE=A=1t—-HLEE
2021 2020
HK$ BT —EB--F —TTF
Customer A ZPA 19,330,842 N/A 38 F
Customer B XFB 13,929,868 N/A i A
Customer C 2FEC N/ATE A+ 10,552,275

The amount of revenue from the customer was less than 10% of the

total revenue for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S TATEM

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

{

E..

moa o B W R K =

6 WX BERR®E

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles Total
HK$ AT BT RARZE HAENEEE RE b
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NEMA-A
Cost KA 39,554,321 3,794,325 1761835 3,160,974 48,271,455
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (2,233,112) (2,490,761) (636,004) (2,066,532) (7,426,409)
Net book amount REFE 37,321,209 1,303,564 1,125,831 1,094,442 40,845,046
Year ended 31 March 2020 H2-Z-FE=-fA=1-H
L5E

Opening net book amount HREEE 37,321,209 1,303,564 1,125,831 1,094,442 40,845,046
Transfer 1o right-of-use assets upon ~ RIFME BT R 5ER

adoption of HKFRS 16 EI6RERRFRBEEE (28,094,048) (108,333) = (764,367)  (28,966,748)
Additions NE - 341,052 - - 341,052
Depreciation & (326,936) (705,841) (540,266) (206,783)  (1,779,826)
Write-off fii 34 - (1,015) (277) - (1,292)
Disposal e = (8,389) = = (8,389)
Closing net book amount HAREEE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,292 10,429,843
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEE=A=+-H
Cost A 9,808,052 3,752,439 1,620,798 2,060,286 17,241,575
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (907 827) (2,931,401) (1,035,510) (1,936,994) (6,811,732)
Net book amount REFE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,292 10,429,843
Year ended 31 March 2021 H2-Z-_-%=f=1-H

IL5E

Opening net book amount HREEE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,292 10,429,843
Additions RE - 921,137 - - 921,137
Depreciation & (326,935) (732,683) (540,266) (121,209)  (1,721,093)
Disposal & - (74,442) - - (74,442)
Exchange differences ERER - 348 - - 348
Closing net book amount HRREEE 8,573,290 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ-F=f=1-H
Cost KA 9,808,052 4,596,345 1,620,798 2,060,286 18,085,481
Accumulated depreciation ZHTE (1,234,762) (3,660,947) (1,575,776) (2,058,203) (8,529,688)
Net book amount FmFE 8,573,290 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793

During the year ended 31 March 2021, depreciation of
HK$520,908 (2020: HK$563,270) and HK$1,200,185 (2020:
HK$1,216,556) were charged to “cost of sales” and “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income, respectively.

Refer to Note 17 for information on non-current assets pledged as

security by the Group.
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EASES
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

HE
(a)

RESHBRRREINEH

As at 31 March

W=B=+—H

2021 2020
HK$ Vv —EB--F —EZTF

Right-of-use assets FCRAEEE
Leasehold land HE L 26,110,964 27,102,506
Properties leases MEMRE 498,797 272,241
Motor vehicles HE 30,575 397,470
Photocopiers FTEN#% 21,666 65,000
26,662,002 27,837,217

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current B 315,817 590,125
Non-current ERE 254,228 83,129
570,045 673,254

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leasehold land, leased premises, motor vehicles
and photocopiers under lease arrangements over the lease
terms from 2 to 30 years. They are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

Refer to Note 17 for information on non-current assets
pledged as security by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, additions to the
right-of-use assets were HK$554,823 (2020: HK$159,919).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGI

n

N

a8 9

LEASES (Continued) 7 HE#E)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (b) RFE2EBRRERNSHE
comprehensive income
During the year 31 March
BEZA=T-HLFE
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E--F —B-FF
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEENE (HF19)
assets (Note 19)
Leasehold land HELTH 991,542 991,542
Leased properties HEWE 328,267 405,060
Motor vehicles P! 366,895 366,897
Photocopiers FTENH# 43,334 43,333
1,730,038 1,806,832
Expenses related to short-term HEHEENTBER X
leases payments (Note 19) (Btet19) 444,694 165,615
Interest expense (included in MBS GTAPBKA)
finance costs) (Note 21) (f1:E21) 17,077 38,632
During the year ended 31 March 2021, depreciation of BE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HLHF
right-of-use assets of HK$124,468 (2020: HK$185,841) B BREAETE124,46858 T (=
and HK$1,605,570 (2020: HK$1,620,991) were charged to %: S4F : 185,841787T) & 1,605,570
“cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses” BT (ZZE-FF:1,620,99187T)E
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, DRRGAEERERAOEHEKA]
respectively. RI—BETHRAZ IR0 -
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total cash outflow HE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HBL#F

for leases was HK$1,119,803 (2020: HK$1,019,604).

E % ERIRE ML 2% A1,119,803
BT (ZE-FF :1,019,604/87T) °
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LEASES (Continued)

E CX)NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE (&)

() The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (c) AEENHEEFHIREARLR
accounted for
The Group leases warehouses, motor vehicles and AEEHERE  REMITHHE - 2
photocopiers. Rental contracts of warehouses, motor vehicles B REMITORAHESHNRTR
and photocopiers are typically made in accordance with the BEHEA PR ENHEIENEIL o
lease terms as stipulated in the rental contracts.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HEGR2EMEpIER FEFERXK
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The 8 BEBEAR OGN G - kR
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than THEAEERF i%é‘?ﬁ’]ﬁz‘ﬁ%¥
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the Ah T E e I AR TE (R 22 o BR
lessor. With the exception of leasehold land, leased assets HELTHIN HEEEHTSE {’H
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. FEHER o
(d) Termination options (d) #KRIEEERE
Termination options are included in some of the leased REBRNETHEMERSRILERE
properties across the Group. These are used to maximise o ZEEERARNZERGEEAR
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in EEZEMAEENZSER LT -
the Group’s operations.
INVENTORIES 78
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—8H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —B--F —EB_FF
Flooring materials o SRR M R 9,036,379 12,840,499
Waterproofing materials B K b R 1,475,392 968,612
Specialised texture painting HELIBRR 120,611 102,616
10,632,382 13,911,727

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the costs of inventories
recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted
to HK$4 1,209,020 (2020: HK$35,262,313) (Note 19).

As at 31 March 2021, a batch of inventories was considered as
obsolete. A provision of HK$232,995 (2020: HK$47,133) was made
as at 31 March 2021 (Note 19).

During the year ended 31 March 2021,

the Group wrote-off

inventories with no resellable value amounting to HK$642,788
(2020: HK$480,459) (Note 19).
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% é 7
TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 9 REUREZERIFREWREE
As at 31 March
R=A=+-H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —T-TF
Trade and retention receivables U E SRR R EWRE & 46,996,627 38,451,680
Less: provision for impairment W ORERE (4,583,989) (2,360,890)
Trade and retention receivables, net EWE SRR EUIRE & F58 42,412,638 36,090,790

The credit period granted to trade customers other than for

retention receivables is within 30 days. The terms and conditions in

relation to the release of retentions varies from contract to contract,

which may be subject to practical completion, the expiry of the
defect liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does

not hold any collateral as security.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is

RTEZEP (BREEEHIN NEED
R30B A - ARAMERIRE S M IFR R IR
RAERAOME  JRAGTER=TT - §
BEHRCRGEMNERARERNE - A
SEYERETMERRIERER -

FUWE ZEFENER A RE DT

as follows: T

As at 31 March

R=BA=+-8
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E_—F —E-TF
1 - 30 days 1£30H 4,534,366 5,152,538
31 -60 days 31260H 6,658,014 1,810,711
61 - 90 days 61%90H 3,232,109 4,045,441
Over 90 days BiE90H 18,794,432 15,978,002
33,218,921 26,986,692
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, TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention
receivables were classified as current assets based on operating

E CX)NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUREZERERARERERE S ()
ERAMBMART  BURARESENE
ERHENBRARDEE -BRAREESE

cycle. The ageing of retention receivables based on invoice date is REZEHMERRNAT
as follows:
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—8H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—-F —ET_TF
Within 1 year 14 R 6,437,899 2,985,362
Between 1 to 5 years 1554 7,339,807 8,479,626
13,777,706 11,464,988

The carrying amounts of trade and retention receivables
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

Trade and retention receivables are denominated in the following

BUE SRR REYRESOREERNL
REHAISEMEL R TERS

BUWE ZERRERERE AT EE

currencies: A :

As at 31 March

W=B=+—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—&F —E-EE
HK$ BT 40,771,499 32,624,217
Macau Pataca (“MOP") R ([RPITT)) 6,225,128 5,927,463
46,996,627 38,451,680

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit
loss allowance for all trade and retention receivables. Details of
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3.1(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN

TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and retention

receivables are as follows:

= & B

9 RUEZERIKERERE S (E)
FUE SRR RERRE S ORERGE

E P UNNE

2021 2020
HK$ BT —E_—F —E-TF
As at 1 April WM A—H 2,360,890 1,495 173
Impairment loss on trade and EHEZERRERRE SR
retention receivables EEE 2,223,099 865,717
As at 31 March W=A=+—8H 4,583,989 2,360,890
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 10 BENRERHMEKRKE
As at 31 March
W=B=+—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—-F —ETTF
Prepayments B R0A 1,421,081 969,826
Other receivables H h fE I IR 527,573 403,775
1,948,654 1,373,601

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments and other

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

AKBEN TR RE M ERFRANREE

AT EHEHE -

As at 31 March

R=A=t+-—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E_—F ZECTHF
HKS$ BT 1,054,810 919,369
MOP SRPY T 427,020 252,523
Others =i 466,824 201,709
1,948,654 1,373,601

The carrying amounts of prepayments and other

approximate their fair values.

receivables

BAFAREMERFRNREEEAR

FERE -
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The contract assets are primarily related to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditional on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights for consideration
become unconditional. The Group typically reclassifies contract
assets to trade receivables on the date of acceptance reports
issued by the customers and invoices issued to them when such
right of collection becomes unconditional other than the passage
of time.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
retention receivables. The contract assets are related to contracts
which are still in progress and the payment is not due.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &
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g F 3R M =
"CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) EHEE/(BfF)
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—8H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —ET-TF
Contract assets AHEE 3,824,547 10,084,028
Less: provision for impairment B R ER (17,845) (162,923)
Contract assets, net ARNEEFE 3,806,702 9,921,105
As at 31 March
R=B=+—8
2021 2020
HK$ BT B -F —B_%F
Contract liabilities EHBEE (4,098,358) (4,457,487)

RHBETRAARKEFNC KM RS
MITRERKENENER J?Imux—r
BRI ARENREANENEEER

BRIV ARRRE - B WA ERERN KD
BIGHE - QOEEERERKE SRS -

AEBBEEEFELBREBRERANSE
REBERER (MFRERR BANEES
HOBREKE SRR

RHBERAREERRTIEAMH LHA
FEU B 5 B 3% e B iR B8 & 1O R B s AR
KR - EHEEEREE BN R HKE
HNERTZEM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL
= & B

CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued) 11
Movements on the provision for impairment of contract assets are

AREE/ (BF) (B)
ANEBERERBIESNT

as follows:
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —T-TF
As at 1 April RO A—H 162,923 -
(Reversal of)/Impairment loss on AWEE(BERE) REEE
contract assets (145,078) 162,923
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—H 17,845 162,923

Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note
3.1(c).

(a) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

FTE A2 B R A ST 2 FE TR
3.1(c)zmi °

(a) BESNABEREINNES
TREIRBE_ZT-_—FR=-FT-
ZE-A=T-HUEFEREELLD
BERRA Y

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+-BL%E

2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —ETTF
Revenue recognised that was SAFEVIEHNEEERE
included in the contract liabilities B R =
balance at beginning of the year 4,072,976 3,624,676

(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligation
resulting from fixed-priced long-term construction contracts.

(b) REKBEHELE
TRINREEERREREANES
HRERBHAE

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT ZEI-F —E_FF
Aggregate amount of the transaction P EEREKNRIAESE
price of long-term construction SRR HERBHE
contracts that are partially or fully
unsatisfied 35,696,440 43,967,943
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CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations (Continued)
Management expects that the transaction prices regarding
the unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2021 will be
recognised as revenue by referencing to the progress
towards completion of the contract activities.

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As

permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

E CX)NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SHREE/(BF) (@)
(b) REMBNEE (H)
EEERS NR_T-_—F=H
=t HBBRERARMNRHER
K2EZRENEDNEEERBK

o

BK

AEREMAND R —FXERHR -
BINE B B 5 85 ERIF1S M A
o OEEREIRERGNNRSE
B RIE -

12 BeRBREEEY

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —ET-TF
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERS 34,551,775 19,612,765
Maximum exposure to credit risk FrEENReEERR 34,532,055 19,596,410

The Group’s cash at bank is mainly deposited with banks in Hong
Kong and Macau, all of which had a maturity of not more than three
months. Cash at bank earned interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

AEBNBRTRESEEFHRRESKRM
E’Jf&ﬁ CFERTREESNEHB B TEB

=@A - RITREERTARITERF
$M%%ﬂ%ﬁ%°

ReRBReEBYUTINERE

currencies:

As at 31 March

W=B=+-H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —E_TF
HK$ BT 28,158,560 15,016,288
Others Hity 6,393,215 4,596,477
34,551,775 19,612,765

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINA

13 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(a) Share capital and premium

= A
=)

AN

13 BRALHE

() RAKEE

Number of Nominal value

ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
HK$ BT EERHAE EBEREE
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each FIREE0.0178 T &%
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 RZZE-—NFWA—HB-
and 2021 —ECEER-T—F
=H=1—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
HK$ BT EBEREE EEREE R & E
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
Ordinary shares at FREE0.01E T
HK$0.01 each AR
At 1 April 2019, 31 March R-Z—HAFMA—H -
2020 and 2021 —ECTER-_E-—F
—A=+—H 600,000,000 6,000,000 52,482,955
KWONG MAN KEEGROUPLIMITED B X e & B BER 2 & | 99
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3" SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve as presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 represented
the shares contribution made by shareholders at nominal
value as part of the reorganisation before listing.

Shareholder contribution

The Group operated an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the Group received services
from Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”), a then consultancy service
provider and the executive director of the Group. Under the
share-based compensation plan, Mr. Yip provided technical
and marketing consultancy services to the Group in return
for share options to acquire a 30% equity interest of Sage
City at nominal consideration. The options were granted on
18 December 2003 and became exercisable on 31 March
2012, before being exercised on 14 August 2015. The amount
in shareholder contribution represents the fair value of
services received, the valuation of which was performed by
an independent qualified valuer using an income approach
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The share-based compensation expenses for such
services were recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the date when the options
were granted on 18 December 2003 until the date when the
non-market vesting conditions were met and the options
became exercisable on 31 March 2012.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3R
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13 BRAKFHE (E)

(b)

(c)

CENGI
R-_B_—FR_FT_%FF=A
Z+t-HEAMBRRRENNER
FEEESLTAMEAN —RERRE
EEEHORREE -

BEREE
AEERARERGEE RN AER
ZHEEE Bt AEEBERZ
BRRBREMEERAESERNTESE
B ([EE4]) EMRS - RE
AR R BERRREE - EX4Em
AEBERERMR EHBRRLE - (E
RER  BUEREREERTIIRE
Sage City 30%MR#E « BRI - %=
ERENR-ZZ=F1+-ATN\B#
Bl RZTE——F=A=+—H%#
BAfTfE  YR=ZZT—RFNATHM
BETE BRRLERMEERSE 2
NEE HEEBENEBELAERMGE
ME2ZEROEZTANATER
R EEEST - ZIRBHIARMD AE
BOMERIEEBRER-TS=
FHZATN\ARLERERDREE
ERETMHSHEENREBIETBHLER
METANGRER BRECSKZ
T——F=A=+—REARAIFE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGI
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14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 14 EERESH \
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there EEETANTENGE AR IBEEEET

is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against HEEEE UREREMSEHER
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the A B BT SEEmEHEER
same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined after EELREE RNEEHBERRIERES L
appropriate offsetting, are shown on the consolidated statement of RESHEHEEET 2 BMT

financial position:

As at 31 March

R=A=+-H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E--F —ETF
Deferred income tax assets to 218 A % i T U= /Y
be recovered after 12 months RIEFTEHEE 2,087 -
Deferred income tax liabilities to M2 A EETHEED
be settled after 12 months REMEHEE (89,085) (127,299)
(86,998) (127,299)
Movements in deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) are as BEFRESHEE/ (BB NEBHHT :
follows:
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —E_FF
As at 1 April AEA—H 127,299 49,400
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated ~ RiGA2EWEE GtA) /K
statement of comprehensive income (Hiiz22)
(Note 22) (40,301) 77,899
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—H 86,998 127,299
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) during the

year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 EIEFTEH (8)

FRMEEREHEE, (AE) 28 (L
Bt RRERBE RVERE A HER) I

within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: T
Deferred income tax assets: RIEMSHEE
Decelerated tax
depreciation
HK$ BT R IEINE
At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 RZZE-AFOA-BR
ZEZZEF=A=+—H -
Credited to the consolidated statement of REAEEBERTA
comprehensive income 2,087
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=H=+—H 2,087
Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEFMBHEE:
Accelerated tax
depreciation
HK$ BT MEBIEINE
At 1 April 2019 RZFE-—NFHA—A (49,400)
Charged to the consolidated statement of BG4 2EkERIDGR
comprehensive income (77,899)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZZTF=A=+—H (127,299)
Credited to the consolidated statement of RiFE2EBaERTA
comprehensive income 38,214
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—H (89,085)
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15 TRADE PAYABLES
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINA
= 8

BN E 5 R

ENEZEFRENERAHORE DTN

follows: T :
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E--F —E-THF
1 - 30 days 1£230H 5,832,412 6,244,261
31 - 60 days 31260H 1,960,520 1,908,928
61 - 90 days 61Z290H 722,118 5,392,434
Over 90 days #3B90H 2,845,996 2,459,581
11,361,046 16,005,204
Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies: BB SEFATIESEE :
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—-F —ETTF
HK$ BT 9,444,313 15,202,686
MOP SBPITT 1,833,772 590,240
Others Hih 82,961 212,278
11,361,046 16,005,204

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair

values due to their short maturities.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X 32 & B B R
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CCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 16 ESERKHEMENSRIE

As at 31 March

104

W=B=+-—-H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—F —ET-TF
Accrued expenses EET X 1,579,021 1,360,696
Other payables H fth & T FRIR 15,921 -
1,594,942 1,360,696

Accruals and other payables are denominated in the following

st ER L AMENFAATIERE:

currencies:

As at 31 March

R=B=t+—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —EC-—F —E-TF
HK$ BT 1,438,532 1,292,653
MOP BP9 IT 105,087 48,543
Others Hit 51,323 19,500
1,594,942 1,360,696

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate

their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN(
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17 BANK BORROWINGS

17

PaN
=)

RITEE

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2021 2020
HK$ BT —E--F —ETF
Secured BEMA
- Bank borrowings which contain —BEAREREREGERN
a repayable on demand clause RITREE 9,410,482 10,130,503

The fair values of bank borrowings approximate their carrying

amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. As at 31

March 2021, the Group’s effective interest rate for bank borrowings
was at a floating rate of 2.4% per annum (2020: 2.4% per annum).

The bank borrowings due for repayment, based on the scheduled

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, are as follows:

HRBRFETTEX RITEENAFE
HEREERE - KT =—
B AEERATEENERFERZE
F24%(ZZ2ZF : §F2.4%) °

BRIEERBHEMERNR
fEERIN TR R

BH . RTT

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—8H
2021 2020
Within 1 year 1A 737,493 720,021
Between 1 to 2 years 15226 755,388 737,493
Between 2 to 5 years 2E5F 2,377,439 2,321,115
Over 5 years HRESF 5,540,162 6,351,874
9,410,482 10,130,503
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*"BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
As at 31 March 2021, total term and revolving banking
facilities of HK$23,410,482 (2020: HK$24,130,503) of which
approximately HK$14,000,000 was unutilised (2020: approximately
HK$14,000,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) certain assets included in property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
HK$6,802,913 and HK$26,110,964 (2020: HK$7,063,041 and
HK$27,102,506), respectively; and

(ii) corporate guarantee provided by the Company.
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has not breached any of the
covenants of the banking facilities. The bank borrowings are

denominated in HK$.

18 OTHER INCOME/(LOSSES)

17

18

RITIEE (&)
R-ZBE-—F=ZA=1+—-8 THRER
RITEEH#EH23,4104828 L (T =%
% : 24,130,503/ 7T) + E H £314,000,000
BILAEA (ZZ=ZF : 414,000,000
7T) o ZEREE T TEERR -

() STAYE BERIZEMEHE
EEMETEE RE28EH 7
/46,802,913 7T % 26,110,96478
T (ZEZFF 7,063,041 LR
27,102,506/87C) + &

(i) AREIREHDFER °
R-ZBE-—F=A=+—8 KEEF X
ERIMBITHERZY - RITEEUBT
BRER

HaW A/ (&8)

Year ended 31 March
BEZAZT-HLEE

2021 2020

HK$ BT —E-_—F ZTZEF
Government grants (Note) BRI 78 8L (1 5t) 1,472,456 -
Others Hh 3,237 (9,681)
1,475,693 (9,681)

Note: The government grants mainly represented the subsidies provided
by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
under the Employment Support Scheme arising from the novel
coronavirus-2019 pandemic (“COVID-19’). There are no unfulfilled

conditions or other contingencies attached to these grants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIL
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|
19 EXPENSES BY NATURE 19 RMEIPWHX '
Expenses included in cost of sales and general and administrative HABERAUR - BERTBRELOER
expenses are analysed as follows: DHME

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-BLEE

2021 2020
HK$ BT —EZ-F —T_FF
Cost of materials used B AM BB A 41,209,020 35,262,313
Subcontractor costs 2B AR 30,327,941 25,448,844
Employee benefit expenses (Note 20) B ERAHX (Hit20)
— direct labour —EHEST 3,024,196 2,943,245
— administrative staff —1THET 12,945,702 10,806,347
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB REEIE (f26)
equipment (Note 6) 1,721,093 1,779,826
Depreciation of right-of-use CREEENE (HiZ7)
assets (Note 7) 1,730,038 1,806,832
Expenses related to short-term lease EREBAENRNAY
payments 444,694 165,615
Repair and maintenance expenses BIEREER 119,222 85,167
Motor vehicle expenses FERX 1,125,478 1,168,862
Auditor’s remuneration ZERT B &
— audit services —ZH R 970,000 920,000
- non-audit services — EREIRTS 47,000 35,000
Write-off of inventories WEFE 642,788 480,459
Provision for inventory obsolescence MERFERE 232,995 47,133
Other expenses H At B 52 5,223,676 5,101,300
99,763,843 86,050,943
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20 EERAEX

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t—-HLEE

2021 2020

HK$ BT —EB--F —E-TF
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances L& - #&  {E4L Mo2ah 15,520,469 13,345,583
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme EK & AR — TREMHE ARG 2] 449,429 404,009
15,969,898 13,749,592

Companies within the Group in Hong Kong have participated
in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
minimum of 5% of the employee’s relevant income as defined
under the MPF Scheme, with the maximum mandatory contribution
by each of the Group companies and its employees limited to
HK$1,500 per month, and further contributions are voluntary.

The mandatory contributions are fully and immediately vested in
the employees as accrued benefits. The employees are entitled
to receive their entire voluntary contributions and 100% of the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions upon retirement or
leaving the Group after completing one year of service.

Any forfeited voluntary contributions made by the Group are used
to reduce the Group’s employer voluntary contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN(
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20
Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 include three directors
(2020: two) whose emoluments are reflected in Note 25. The
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2020: three) individuals
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows:

BERAMX (&)
LEBREHAL
RBE-Z-—F=A=+—HULFE &
SEFMRRNRARALER=2(Z22=
TE WB)EE  HFMEARME25 - 1
BE_Z_—$=-A=+—HULFE E
NBRTME(ZE_TF: =8) ALOH
BT :

Year ended 31 March
BEZAZ+-HLEE

2021 2020

HK$ BT —EB--F —T-FHF
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances L& » ¥4 - LA K =2Bh 1,826,300 2,116,800
Pension cost - defined contribution scheme iR{k& A — EZB 25t 21 36,000 54,000
1,862,300 2,170,800

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BRHEMNIRATEE :

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—E--F —ETF
Emolument band & E
Nil - HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 1 3
HK$1,000,000 - $1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 -
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INANCE COSTS, NET

21 BIERARTEE

Year ended 31 March
HE=B=1t—-HILLEE

2021 2020

HK$ BT —E-—F —ET-TF
Finance income IS

— Bank interest income —RITH B WA 14,606 57,048
Finance costs B 75 X AR

— Interest on bank borrowings —RITEEAN S (307,827) (335,263)

- Finance charges on leases liabilities —THEABVKER

(Note 7) (B1aE7) (17,077) (38,632)

... (324904 (373,895)

Finance costs, net BT AN R R (310,298) (316,847)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income represents:

22 FiBHEX
REEE2mBEROMERRAY €8I

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t-BL%E

2021 2020
fiks BT —g--%  —T-TF
Current income tax: ENEAFR IS M -

- Hong Kong profits tax — EEFER 2,912,104 1444707
— Macau corporate income tax —RPI AR _ 38 736
— Over-provision in prior years —BAFEBRBEEE (98,485) (78,778)
2,813,619 1,404,665

Deferred income tax (Note 14) EILFT1SH (Bt 14) (40,301) 77,899
Income tax expense FTeRiF X 2,773,318 1,482,564
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL ETA]TEME :

22 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Hong Kong profits tax

In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax regime, for the
subsidiary entitled to this benefit, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million and 16.5% on
the remaining balance of the estimated assessable profits for
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. For other Hong
Kong incorporated subsidiaries, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 16.5%.

Macau corporate income tax
Macau corporate income tax has been provided at the
applicable rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profit in
excess of MOP600,000 (approximately HK$583,000) of the
Group’s operations in Macau.

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from

the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average

tax rate applicable to the profit of the consolidated entities as

Fna 8

& B B %

|
[~

|

22 FRSHiBI< ()

(i)

(i)

BENEH

BREFESHAEH  REEZERN
HBARMS HE-_T-_—€K=
T-TE=-A=+-HILEFE FE
RIS B R b FEER T % A &2,000,000
A TTIA8.25%:T & + i H BR fh 5t FE R
BOE A B Z16.5% T8 - HthER B
A2 M B A R E B ISR A
1£16.5%1 & °

BPIRRTED
RFIERAEHERAEERMER
HOfb &t FE AR 4 M o 8 8.600,000/2
7T (#1583,0007& 7T ) #9 #E 7 DA 38 A 7
L12% T IR B -

AKBERRAAEH AR M HIRERBER
RERE AR E 88 106 Fl &0 p0#8 T 3 R &5t
EmEmMiEn @

follows:
Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=t-HLEE
2021 2020

HK$ BT —E_—F —T_FF
Profit before income tax B P15 350 A1l 4 A 18,197,196 7,618,310
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates RERAMEGFTERTIIE 2,914,101 1,071,695
Income not subject to tax BAERBIA (301,108) -
Expenses not deductible for taxation AAHIBF

purposes 414,457 496,548
Tax effect of unused tax losses VERRAZAEAHEBEZ

not recognised M2 - 83,001
Utilisation of previous unrecognised A AT EERZ

tax losses WA B (74,493) -
Over-provision in prior years BAFERBAR (98,485) (78,778)
Tax deduction FRIEI R (81,154) (89,902)
Income tax expense FaREY 2,773,318 1,482,564

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.15(b),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of HK$246,840 (2020: HK$503,036).
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REMFE2150) B ST ER  A&HE
W H246,840/8 70 (ZZ —Z 4 : 503,036

BTL) W RE SR B

WIELERABE

[
%
ol

11



112

ES T \-l

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ %n W o= MO
3" DIVIDEND 23 K&

2021 2020
—B--F —ETF

Proposed final dividend BB S
- HK1 cent per share — BB 6,000,000 -
No dividend was paid during the year ended 31 March 2021 REBEE-_ZT-_—F=A= ‘l’ BIEFEL
(2020: HK$4,200,000). ERMNEARE (ZFZFF 1 4,200,000

/%TE) °

A final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March AARBENBET RRAFAS RS

24

2021 of HK1 cent per share (2020: nil), amounting to a total
dividend of HK$6,000,000 (2020: nil), is to be proposed at the R R ERRE B AL (=

forthcoming annual general meeting. These consolidated financial I% B 4858 4 51 26,000,000 T (ZE2 =%

BE_F-_—F=-A=1t—HULPRFE
T_TEE)

statements do not reflect this dividend payable. FE) o  WEMRABBEHRERNERBILIE

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 24 XRAGEEAELEERE

THE COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit

AR

BRERBHNREEFEZARREAA

attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average Féfﬁ/ﬁﬁu@uagﬁeﬁ ERR  hORE T 45 2
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years. HE o
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t—-HLHFE
2021 2020

2 BT —E=-% EE 5T 7
Profit attributable to owners of RN AEE R

the Company 15,567,820 6,212,831
Weighted average number of ordinary B 317 T A A I RE 192

shares in issue 600,000,000 600,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREARZF (FBL) 2.59 1.04

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Potential mat®E - B Laks

ordinary shares are dilutive when, and only when, their conversion

SREBERANERABE LT L BERM
E?ﬂﬁﬂjmﬁﬁ@EﬁEaLhﬁﬁ)
EEERATBR
1%Mﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂkﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%%% o A

to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share. As at 31 —E - FR-ZZEEF=A=+—H"

March 2021 and 2020, diluted earnings per share is equal to basic
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

B A I 4 B R EE IR )
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25 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 25 #EEARAI% (55207 &0H (262 y A
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE ) EIBHERATHRBESHFER) N \
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND B (5£622GE) FrR EMHKE) .

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) E=Me HERTZEEEHMH)
compensation)
The remuneration of the directors is set out below: EEMeEIWT
For the year ended 31 March 2021: HE-E--—F=A=1+—-HLEE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HKS AT fFAEE (FiRRALTENBAALE) RENEARKE AARRMHME
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director’s

other

services in

connection

with the

management

Employer's o the affairs

Allowances  contribution  of the Company

Discretionary ~ and benefits to a retirement or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses inkind benefit scheme  undertaking Total

HEZN

EfbRE

LG

WEAELE

BRAEN  EEEZEN

ERR LN REEAE

#4 ik #4 BiERL ENEA Bty Ehwme )

Executive Directors HTEE

Mr. Kwong Chi Man PRkt - 1,183,000 220,000 10,509 13,500 - 1,427,009

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer) ERERE(THER) - 1,105,000 210,000 30,123 18,000 - 1363128

Mr. Yip Wai Man L) 63 - 539,500 130,000 - 18,000 - 667,500

Independent non-executive Directors BUHES

Ms. Yu Wan Wah, Amparo REERT 122,000 - - - - - 122,000

Mr. Law Pui Cheung Biigxt 122,000 - - - - - 122,000

Mr. Wat Hiu Yan Danny BB EE 122,000 - - - - - 122,000
366,000 2,821,500 560,000 40,632 49,500 - 3,843,632
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ENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management
compensation) (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020:

25

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ESHEARANG (BB DQARM (5622
F)FIBMERLAF (KEESHNBEHR)
B (55622GE) Fr R E MK &) (&)

(a) EEMe (HERETEEERBHMH)
(%)

BE-F-PE=A=t—ALLFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HKS A7 [ERES (FRRALREANBAALE) RENEARBEN IR RS HE

QOther emoluments
paid or receivable

in respect of
director's other
srvices in connection

with the management
Employer's of the affairs
Allowances  contribution of the Company
Discretionary  and benefits o a retirement or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses inkind  benefit scheme undertaking Total
REZH
AfbaE
ARFZE
HEAFALE
MERER EAZHN
2HR rElfRde RBEAE
14 g i Mg EiaH Exf3 e e
Executive Directors Az
M. Kwong Chi Man® Brugrs - 1,126,000 50,000 11,434 18,000 - 120543
M. Yip Kong Lok? (Chief Executive Officer)  EB &4 42 (7R £7) - 1048000 45,000 33142 18000 - 1
M. Yip Wai Man L - 502,000 45,000 - 18000 - 565,000
Independent non-executive Directors U FHTES
M. Yu Wan Wah, Amparo SRELT 122,000 = = = - - 122,000
M. Law Pui Cheung EMELE 122,000 - - - - = 122,000
Hr, Wat Hiu Yan Danny EERLE 122,000 - - - - = 122,000
366000 2674000 140,000 44576 54,000 - 3278576

*

Mr. Kwong Chi Man resigned and Mr. Yip Kong Lok was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with
effect from 1 September 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, none of the directors

of the Company waived their emoluments nor agreed to waive
their emoluments for the year (2020: nil).
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25 BENEFITS AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINA

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
Save as disclosed in Note 25(a), the directors did not receive
any other retirement benefits or termination benefits during
the year (2020: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available the
directors’ services (2020: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of the directors, bodies corporate controlled by
and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, bodies
corporate controlled by and controlled entities with such
directors (2020: nil).

Director’s material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 27(a), no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X i &
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(a) Cash flows from operating activities

| 26" NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 26

(a)

ES T(P THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEHERERMEE
RETEHAESHEESRE

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t—-HLEE

2021 2020
HK$ Vv —EB--F —ET-TF
Cash flows from operating activities K& EBFEHEERE
Profit before income tax BR P15 151 Al ) 18,197,196 7,618,310
Adjustments for: S| RIEEL
— Interest income =N ON (14,606) (57,048)
— Interest expense —MEHX 324,904 373,895
— Depreciation of property, —E  BERRETE
plant and equipment 1,721,093 1,779,826
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets  —{FAEEENE 1,730,038 1,806,832
— Impairment loss on trade and —ERESEREERRE UK
retention receivables and BRAEERBEERE
contract assets 2,078,021 1,028,640
— Write-off of inventories —MEEE 642,788 480,459
— Provision for inventory obsolescence —REFEREE 232,995 47,133
— Write-off of property, plant and —MEDE  BERRE
equipment - 1,292
— (Gain)/loss from disposal of —HEVE BEREREZ
property, plant and equipment W) /EiE (3,237) 8,389
Operating profit before working EEB S EHAIEE T
capital changes 24,909,192 13,087,728
Changes in working capital: %‘”E%“‘@J :
— Decrease/(increase) in inventories —FERL,/(Em) 2,403,562 (2,576,947)
— Increase in trade and retention fﬁ%‘\uﬂzfé%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ%%
receivables 30 (8,544,947) (2,139,487)
— Increase in prepayments and other — — J&{< 5R 18 & E 4 JiE U 2% 18 12 0
receivables (494,994) (102,200)
— Decrease/(increase) in contract —BNEERD,/ (EM)
assets 6,259,481 (4,689,469)
— (Decrease)/increase in contract —SHEERD) /&
liabilities (359,129) 755,211
- Decrease in trade payables —ENEBSET D (4,644,158) (719,176)
- Increase/(decrease) in accruals and  — fEZT & B I E 5 708
other payables i/ () 234,246 (648,756)
Net cash generated from operations REMGER S 19,763,253 2,966,904
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN

26 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(b) Non-cash transactions
The costs of property leases of approximately HK$554,823
were capitalised as right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2021 (2020: HK$159,919).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment of HK$77,679 was
included in “prepayments and other receivables”.

The proceeds from disposals of property, plant and

= & B

27 HFEREREBRMWE (B)

(b) ¥EHERH
HE-_Z-_—=A=+—HI#
& MEEEKARH554,8238 70 (=
T-FTF 1599198 L) EE AN A
FREERE -

HE_Z_—F=-A=+—HL*HF
B HEWE BERERBZAER
B776798 LEF ABARERE
il FEURIE] ©

HEWNE BELRRBZAEREALR

equipment comprise: &

Year ended
31 March 2021
BE
—E-—F
=B=+—AH
HK$ BT LFE
Net book amount (Note 6) EREFE(Hte) 74,442
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME  BEREHE = 3,237

Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE REH 2 FEHIE
plant and equipment 77,679

(c) Net cash reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the
movements in net cash for each of the years presented.

(c) FREHEK
AEREFIFT 256 B 0FR S FFR

As at 31 March
HE=A=1t-BL%E

2021 2020
HK$ BT —E-—-F —ETTF
Cash and cash equivalents BERREHEY 34,551,775 19,612,765
Bank borrowings - variable interest rate $R{7fE & — F 7= (9,410,482) (10,130,503)
Lease liabilities - fixed interest rate HEAE-BETEHME (570,045) (673,254)
Net cash g 24,571,248 8,809,008
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SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
By &

OTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(c) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

26 HREREREBRMET (E)

(c) FREHEK(E)

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE HETBDELZER
Cash Finance
and cash Bank lease Lease
equivalents  borrowings payables liabilities Total
BeR
HK$ AT REZEN RITEE EAREEE BESE ast
Net cash as at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF
ZA=t-B2EH% 23,627,331 (10,748,991) (808,387) - 12,089,953
Adoption of HKFRS 16 RNE BT RE LR
F16% - - 808,387  (1,328,692) (520,305)
Restated net cash RZE-NERA—-RAZ
as at 1 April 2019 Ls5FRE 23,627,331 (10,748,991) - (1,328692) 11,549,648
Cash flows BenE (4,013,762) 618,488 - 815,357 (2,579,917)
Acquisition - leases Wi -HE - - - (159,919) (159,919)
Foreign exchange adjustments ANEE 3% (804) - - - (804)
Net cash as at 31 March 2020 RZE-ZF
ZAZ+-RZFRE 19,612,765  (10,130,503) - (673,254) 8,809,008
Cash flows Reng 14,957,176 720,021 - 658,032 16,335,229
Acquisition - leases Wi -HE - - (554,823) (554,823)
Foreign exchange adjustments ANEE 3% (18,166) - - - (18,166)
Net cash as at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—%F
“AZT-AZFBE 34,551,775  (9,410,482) - (570,045) 24,571,248
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 BHARS \
The directors of the Company are of the view that the following ADNFEERAUTATAEAERRR

individuals were related parties that had transactions or balances 5 ok 4 55 2 B E
with the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGI
= & B

Related parties Relationship with the Group

B S HER B &

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) Controlling shareholder and executive director of the Group

BEXEE(TBEE]) AEEERBRERES

Ms. Li Chuen Chun (“Mrs. Kwong”) Spouse of Mr. Kwong

2R LT (B BB 5 A RO B 45

Ms. Kwong Wing Yan (“Ms. Kwong”) Daughter of Mr. Kwong

Bk + ([Bskmzt]) BEENRT

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group (a) RNBE-_Z-_—FKR-_ZT-_FTF=FH
had the following significant transactions with its related =t+—HUIEE AEFBEHEBES
parties: BUTHEARS :

Year ended 31 March
HE=RA=1t-RLFE

2021 2020
HK$ BT —E--F —TEFF
Rental paid in relation to rental HNEFITUZHEENZ

contract entered into with ERELEY
Mr. Kwong (Note b) Bt & (f772p) 240,000 240,000
Mrs. Kwong and Ms. Kwong BARBXMREZ L 44,400 44,400
As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised lease liabilities (b) R=ZZE-—&F=fA=+—H KA5£H
to related party of approximately HK$487,000 (2020: HAEEYER SR %TE%H&*EE’JTE‘;
HK$178,000) over the relevant property lease. BEXN4I870008 T (ZE_ZF:
178,000 ) °
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MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

= M =

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE

Statement of financial position of the Company

ES T(f THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 AQFZHBRRARREES

ARE 2B BMRRE

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—-H

Note 2021 2020
HK$ BT B 5 —E--F —TTF
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RETB AR ZEKE (a) 27,008,999 27,008,999
Current assets nBEE
Prepayments and other receivables A FRIA B E At B W kIR 357,566 298,220
Amounts due from subsidiaries UK B A 5 3 E 57,943,857 58,002,903
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 205,532 205,832

58,506,955 58,506,955

Total assets EERE 85,515,954 85,515,954
LIABILITIES af
Current liabilities poEIA=RE
Accruals and other payables FERT 2 A R H At e < 5118 19,500 19,500
Amounts due to a subsidiary FESH B A R IE 4,500 4,500
Total liabilities BELH 24,000 24,000
EQUITY R
Share capital IR A 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves & (b) 79,491,954 79,491,954
Total equity Emew 85,491,954 85,491,954
Total equity and liabilities EnkE8EH85EE 85,515,954 85,515,954

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2021 and was signed on its

behalf.

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
Director
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Mr. Yip Kong Lok
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGI

28 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries

= PaN
=)

A

29 ARAEERBERRFEREZH(

() FEMBATAFRE

Ja

Place of Issued and fully Principal activities
incorporation/ paid up and place
Company name establishment capital of operation Interest held (%)
ML/ BRT TEXBR
L RS k&R RE EE 3R FREF B £ (%)
2021 2020
“E--F —ZC-ZF
Directly held by the Company
ARAAEERE
Victor Ease Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in 100 100
Hong Kong
ARERAT REBRRES 10,000% 7 REBREER
Indirectly held by the Company
AAAEERE
Kwong Man Kee Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$100 Provision of engineering 100 100
services in flooring,
screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Hong Kong
BXEIRARRA &k 10087 REBREMTRR HaRER
#RBENANIRRS
Charter Ease International Limited British Virgin Islands  US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
2REARBERAA REBRRES 10,000% 7 REFREER
Luxury Sense Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
ABRAEE 10,000% 7 REFPREER
Kwong Man Kee (Macau) Macau MOP30,000 Provision of engineering 100 100
Engineering Limited services in flooring,
screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Macau
BXGE (&F) TRAR AR A 30,0007 REFREHTER  HattER
BRBEAENIRRS
Sino Ocean International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Trading of materials 100 100
in Hong Kong
PEEARERAF Bk 10,0008 T REBEMHES
Prolific Harvest International Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in 100 100

SHERERAT

EBRLRS 10,000% T

Hong Kong
REBRALR
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SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 29 ARGzEEEEBRRFHEZE (B)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (Continued) (a) FZEMEBARFFE (&)
Place of Issued and fully Principal activities
incorporation/ paid up and place
Company name establishment capital of operation Interest held (%)
EMAL/ BRI TEXBR
L 5 R&RRE EXE Fir 5 2 (%)
2021 2020
—2=-% “T-%F%
Kwong Man Kee Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in 100 100
Company Limited Hong Kong
BXEREBRAA & 10,000 ¢ REBREAR
Kwong Man Kee Specialist Hong Kong HK$10,000 Provision of engineering 100 100
Engineering Limited services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid
surfacing and specialised
texture painting in Hong Kong
BXRE£IREARAA ) 10,0007t REBRMMTHR HoHE
BROEREFHELES
Iik#
KMK (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Provision of engineering 85 85
services in waterproofing
works in Hong Kong
B (BM) BRAR &k 100,000 7T REEREHKIRAANH IR

k%
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28 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 29 AAFCSEEBREREESH (4
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) DB ZHELE
Capital
Share reserve
premium (Note) Total
EXRE
HK$ BT R 6 % 8 (Kizt) Bt

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 RZE-nFHA—H "

and 2021 —T-TER
T —F
—A=+—H 52,482,955 27,008,999 79,491,954
Note liogz3
Capital reserve of the Company represented the difference between RAT 7B R RETUEE > Victor Ease? &
the net asset value of Victor Ease acquired over the nominal value of BERE BN B AR MR T BT IR AN (E 7 R 69
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof. 248

KWONG MAN KEEGROUPLIMITED B X e E B ER 27 | 123



124

" F OB OB 8 =

Revenue

W g

Profit/(loss) before taxation B % a1 Kl (&18)

Profit/(loss) attributable
to equity holders of the

Company

Cash flows

Net cash generated from/

(used in) operating
activities

At year end
Total assets

Total liabilities

Total equity

Cash and bank balances

Per share data

Earnings/(loss) per share

— basic (HK cents)

ARAIEDFHAA
FEEER, (B1R)

RERg
BEEDRE/
(FrA)ERE

Re kRITES

BREE
BhaMN,/ (BR)
—EARGEA)
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-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

“EC 4 C"E-ZF C"E-hE ZEBE-NF CZEB—+H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT BT
118,873,665 95,024,421 117,922,836 77,094,366 72,362,730
18,197,196 7,618,310 11,500,142 7,661,375 (561,059)
15,567,820 6,212,831 9,979,511 6,646,653 (2,838,093)
17,566,361 2,277,982 16,902,055 1,796,322 (22,853,802)
129,921,621 119,177,048 117,817,729 122,273,410 85,070,994
29,519,379 34,183,549 34,756,249 39,523,410 8,967,647
100,402,242 84,993,499 83,061,480 82,750,000 76,103,347
34,551,775 19,612,765 23,627,331 17,977,073 35,085,289
2.59 1.04 1.66 1.11 (0.55)
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